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Synergy may be defined as individuals
working together to achieve a common
goal. The synergy among our
employees creates a unified
organization that can achieve
efficiencies greater than those of our
competitors, ultimately benefiting our
shareholders, policyholders, and
producers. By emphasizing
productivity at every level of our
operation, we will remain an efficient,
flexible leader in our industry,
operating at competitive levels with
distinctive products and services.
Recognizing that the whole is only as
great as the sum of its parts, we
encourage—and expect—all
associates to challenge themselves to
grow and reach their maximum
professional potential.

WE'RE THE

In the face of technological challenges,

changing family structures and an
evolving social and economic
environment, we must remain
thoroughly responsive to the needs of
our customers. Each employee is an
integral component in the delivery of
superior personal service, and
contributes to our overall success in
achieving this important goal. Our
excellent service record can only be
attributed to the knowledge,
experience, and professionalism of our

people.

ONE

Individual commitment to excellence and achievement is

a non-negotiable standard. By testing new ways to meet

challenges and achieve excellence, we will better serve

our shareholders, policyholders, and producers.

The keys to our continued growth and
profitability are the shared values that
form the common link for our people.
We must run as a cohesive whole in
order to achieve the service levels set
forth. We will continue to create key
marketing alliances and establish
precision marketing initiatives. We
intend to build the highest value for
our shareholders via sound long term
investment strategies and consistent
delivery of innovative
products—ultimately fulfilling our
responsibility o you and positioning us

well for the future.




AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

2001

HIGHLIGHTS

B Surpassed $4 Billion in assets;

B Production of $2.4 Billion of new annuity deposits;

B Total licensed agents exceeded 33,000;

B Licensed a New York subsidiary;

B Updated American Equity’s annuity product line via “2001 Integrity Series”;
B Continued to provide superior service to all of our customers;

B Continued capital raising activities;

B Maintained a liquid asset position of approximately 25% of total assets
from September 12 through balance of the year.
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“TRULY AN EXCELLENT, TREMENDOUS,

EXCITING, AND CHALLENGING YEAR!”

Every year since our inception in 1995, American Equity has undergone phenomenal
success. The year 2001 was “TRULY AN EXCELLENT, TREMENDOUS, EXCITING,
AND CHALLENGING YEAR” for our dynamic company. Relationships continued to
strengthen and develop...annuity deposits continued to increase over prior years and key

business strategies, technology and initiatives were implemented throughout the

organization... positioning American Equity for future growth.

ASSET LIQUIDITY

When the unprecedented terrorist attack occurred on September
11, a number of significant and far-reaching events were put in
motion for American Equity. Several members of American
Equity's senior management, along with six of the top ten
national marketing organization principals and nine top agents,
were in New York City. Several of these individuals were in the
downtown "ground zero" area and observed the second plane
strike. We spent the next many hours attempting to locate various
members of the group, communicating to their families the fact
that all were safe and listening intently to the information which
was available to the public. As you might imagine, a high sense
of survival prevailed for both ourselves as individuals and our

companies.

After September 11, the Federal Reserve immediately instituted a
policy of injecting massive funds into the banking system to cut
off any panic over liquidity. This policy was in effect until mid-
October when the war unfolded. On Monday, September 17
when the markets reopened, Chairman of the Federal Reserve

Board, Alan Greenspan, announced an adjustment on the Federal
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- D.J. NOBLE
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Fund rate by one-half point.

Because of the utter paralyzing of financial markets during
various periods of the 4th quarter, American Equity maintained
nearly 25% of its assets in immediately liquid securities. This
percentage, which approached the $1 Billion level, was
continued through most of the 4th quarter. The financial effect
reduced American Equity's investment income in excess of $8
Million in the 4th quarter earnings and thus the full year's

earnings.

Had we chosen to invest substantially all liquid funds during the
4th quarter, assets were clearly available to us.  In fact, we
invested $550 Million in government agency assets with a
calculable yield in excess of 7.15% during the 4th quarter. These
securities could have been of a magnitude to maintain a fully
invested position. American Equity did not suffer a "run on the
bank" or liquidity crisis. American Equity's liquid position was
communicated directly to agents and policyholders, which
resulted in accelerated production because people were looking

for security.
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We must emphasize that the decline of investment income, in
excess of $8 Million, was for the 4th quarter only and not a
permanent impairment on the investment yield generated by
those assets when in a investment posture consistent with our

Business Plan.

CAPITAL RAISING

It is my judgment that absent the September 11 event, a capital
raising venture would have gone forward successfully and we
would have written another great chapter in American Equity's
Business Plan. I think everyone will agree that the capital

financial markets were in disarray during the 4th quarter of 2001.

Late in 2001, we filed a Form S-1 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission to avail ourselves of all appropriate
public capital raising opportunities. We expect to vigorously
pursue capital raising through this avenue early in the 2nd quarter
of 2002. We certainly will be exploring other capital raising

opportunities that are available.

Discussions had been occurring throughout the year 2001 with
FBL Financial Group regarding potential co-insurance of the
dramatic production that American Equity was experiencing. A
co-insurance transaction was successfully completed late in
December. Although not improving the 4th quarter financial
operating results, it materially enhanced the asset-liability
position at year-end. This program provides additional
enhancements through co-insurance for the years 2002 and

2003.

FINANCIALS

The Life Companies assets grew to over $3.9 BILLION, based on
statutory accounting, up 84% from year-end 2000. The statutory
result, before federal income tax, was an operating loss of $5.7
Million, excluding capital gains and losses. Gross revenues were
up 234% when compared to the prior year. General insurance
expenses were up 33% on a statutory basis, resulting in a very
satisfactory ratio when compared to gross revenue. Statutory

capital and surplus for the Life Companies approached $178

>
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Million. American Equity’s consolidated assets approached $4.4
Billion under accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States with income, before tax and minority interests,

estimated to be $9.5 Million.

MARKETING CULTURE

Our marketing plan, as we have said so many times, is very
aggressive, focusing on our core "Principles of Excellence".
American Equity continues its aggressive marketing campaign,
targeting existing and new National Marketing Organizations
(NMO’s) and agents while focusing on a diversified fixed
annuity product line including Equity-Indexed, Traditional

Declared Interest and Multi-Year Guaranteed annuities.

To maximize recruiting and productivity efforts, American
Equity implemented the “We’re the One” internal marketing
campaign in 1998. Our ongoing commitment to this program has
greatly enhanced American Equity market recognition for
SUPERIOR SERVICE and innovative products. In 2002, we will
continue to fine-tune the “We’re the One” campaign to

aggressively pursue corporate production and recruiting goals.

-Lto R: James M. Gerlach, Kevin R. Wingert, Jack W. Schroeder and Ronald J. Grensteiner.

“We understand that by putting service first,
we have gone beyond ordinary success.

We have set the stage for the future.”
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FINANCIAL RATINGS

Our commitment to sound business principles has been
recognized by A.M. Best and Standard and Poor’s, both
nationally recognized industry rating authorities. American
Equity is proud of our A.M. Best rating of “A-" (Excellent) and
our “A-” from Standard and Poor’s. The relationships and
communications between both rating agencies and American
Equity are and will continue to be a high priority with a goal to

maintain or strengthen these ratings.

“Our excellent service record can only be
attributed to the knowledge, experience,

and professionalism of our people.

PEOPLE

Long-term success requires discipline. At American Equity
discipline is maintained every day, of every month, of every year.
Our focus will always be maintained on the needs of our
shareholders, policyholders and agents. By emphasizing
productivity at every level of our operation, we will remain an
efficient, flexible leader in our industry, operating at competitive

levels with distinctive products and services.

At American Equity, we challenge all associates to grow and
reach their maximum potential. American Equity currently
employs approximately 180 employees. This is an excellent ratio
to either policy in force, processing of applications or assets
administered. American Equity’s excellent service record can
only be attributed to the knowledge, experience, and
professionalism of our people. Production results and a growing
agency force confirm that we have succeeded in delivering a
service-based relationship. In 2002, we will continue to focus on
providing the best marketing support and annuity services to our

agents and policyholders.

PRODUCTION
Annuity deposits for the year 2001 exceeded $2.4 Billion,

compared to $842 Million for the same period of 2000. This is a
very dynamic increase. The first three months of 2002 continue
to demonstrate very significant increases when compared to the
same period in 2001. I am of the firm opinion that American
Equity's unique position in the marketplace is causing agents to
seek our company as a carrier. Consolidation in the insurance
industry over the past years, market volatility and a lack of
awareness of the customer needs by other companies continue to

offer dramatic production opportunities for American Equity.

PRODUCTION
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Effective March 9, 2002, due to current interest rate levels, the
base crediting rate on new fixed-interest annuity products was
reduced with comparable adjustments being made to renewal
crediting rates. Investments made during the first quarter of
2002, all of which are government agency paper, are paying a
gross yield sufficient to meet our target spread. This gross spread
is favorable in trend for the company and may have an impact on

production for the balance of the year 2002.

LICENSED AGENTS

Recruiting additional agents is vital to the growth of American
Equity and has always been an integral part of our Business Plan.
As of year-end 2001, American Equity had licensed over 33,000
agents, up 55% for the year.

AGENTS
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TECHNOLOGY

We consider technology to be a strategic asset shaping the way
we do business and helping us to become a more significant
player in the industry. From the beginning, American Equity has
invested in cutting edge technology. This investment has
provided us with enhanced internal efficiencies and improved
service for both agents and policyholders. Our interactive web
site has played an important role in the development of consumer

and agent relations.
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The introduction of
American Equity’s
Interactive ~ Agent,
business-to-business

web site will further

enhance these marketing
efforts by allowing
us to identify the

e e Te B
EQUITY-INDEXED
PROGUCT CALEARATOR

product and service
needs of our most
productive agents.

We will use key

information from this

site to effectively

market American Equity’s products. We continue to urge you to visit

our web site at www.american-equity.com.

PRODUCTS PORTFOLIO

American Equity has continued to introduce new annuity products.
Production during the 1st quarter of 2002 is approximately 15-17%
multi-year rate
guarantee
products with the
balance split
between equity-
indexed linked
products and
annually adjusted

interest rate
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products. We expect significant additional events in the product area

for year 2002.

NICHE MARKETS

Variable

Variable products continue to be a challenging area of the
financial services
industry. Like fixed
annuities, variable
annuities offer tax
deferral. Variable
annuity products
allow a consumer

to participate in the

equity market.

Our variable product alliance with FBL Financial Group,
established in 1998, continues to offer opportunities strategically
beneficial for both companies. Our broker/dealer, American
Equity Capital, Inc. currently has licensing authority in 30 states.
We have made considerable progress in laying the groundwork to
market this area and will continue to examine product structures,

sales techniques, and other areas of importance to enhance our

future opportunities for success.

National Guard

One of our long-term successes is our relationship with state
National Guard Associations. American Equity remains the
largest life insurance carrier for members of the National Guard
offering a program of group term life insurance. We currently
service 26 state National Guard Associations. Our efforts are
focused on exploring new opportunities for expansion of our

Association program to additional states and to offer an array of

products.

PRODUCT APPROVALS
American Equity offers a broad portfolio of products available in
many states known for challenging approval processes. Our

Compliance Department has a proven track record for product
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approval success in these states, which gives us a tremendous

edge over our competition.

The Compliance Department’s objective has always been to
support the corporate business plan by obtaining product
approvals quickly and providing information and methods to
keep our company in line with the regulatory environment. Not
only must our products meet regulatory standards, they must

also deliver the profitability we expect for our shareholders.

INVESTMENTS

Our estimated investment yield on current permanent
investments is 7.10%, based on cost. This is a reduction of
approximately .5 of a percent for the year 2001 and is a direct
result of reduced rates available on new investments. The fixed
income assets are 98.4% investment grade. Earned net statutory
investment income reached in excess of $142 Million, compared

to prior year of $81 Million.

TOTAL CASH AND INVESTMENTS

NAIC-2
10.68%
NAIC-3
1.40%
NAIC-4
.20%
Mtg Loan
NAIC-1 2.80%
. Cash &
79.32% Other
5.80%

NAIC-3 Rating Agency
Designation Equivalent

AaalAa/A
Baa
Ba
B
Caa and lower
In or near default
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I am pleased to welcome two new additions to the American
Equity senior management team. Robert Laughton will serve as
Senior Vice President of our Investment Department. Mr.
Laughton brings with him over 20 years of experience in the
investment arena. He previously served as senior investment

manager to a major player in the insurance industry.

Ted Johnson has joined American Equity as Vice President of
Accounting. Mr. Johnson brings strong leadership abilities and a
solid technical background in financial reporting and accounting.
He previously served as Senior Manager Audit with Ernst &
Young, LLP, of Des Moines, lowa. These talented and
experienced individuals will be a positive factor in our future

plans for success.

During 2001, we began a commercial mortgage loan program. At
December 31, 2001, we held $108 Million of mortgage loans.
These mortgage loans are diversified as to property type,

location and loan size.

STATE LICENSING

With the addition of New Hampshire in March 2002, we
currently are licensed in 46 states and the District of Columbia.
We will continue to work with Connecticut, North Carolina,
Rhode Island and Vermont insurance departments to further our

geographic coverage.

In June 2001, the New York Insurance Department approved the
formation of American Equity Investment Life Insurance
Company of New York. This Company is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Life Company. We believe great opportunities

for growth exists in this region.
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FUTURE

Our 2002 Business Plan is focused on steady growth and strong
principles of excellence at all levels of American Equity. Our
comprehensive marketing plan includes an intensive effort to
recruit the best National Marketing Organizations (NMO’s)
across the nation and most importantly, to enhance relationships
with our current NMO’s. We will implement stronger
relationship-building strategies. We will continue to have a
strong presence in the field, motivating and training our NMO'S
through personal visits, direct mailings, teleconferences and
videoconferences. We will continue to deliver superior personal
service to our policyholders and agents and we will remain a

dynamic, disciplined leader in our industry.

OUR GOAL AT AMERICAN EQUITY
IS TO CONTINUE PROVIDING
CUSTOMER SERVICE THAT 1S,
WITHOUT QUESTION, SECOND

TO NO ONE ELSE."

This goal could never have been considered, let alone accomplished,
without the level of competence, experience and commitment

that the American Equity staff dedicates to SERVICE.

I assure you, we will implement these strategies with a strong
sense of purpose. Our entire organization will speak as one
voice, act as one being, and focus on our core principles. On
behalf of our board of directors and employees, thank you for

your confidence and support.

Sincerely,

D.J. Noble
Chairman and President

“Our business philosophy is simple...Through sound financial management, prudent

investment and development of innovative products and services, we will position ourselves

as one of the leaders within the insurance and financial services industry.”
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

TH E BESTInsurunce Management Team

LEADING THE WAY

LIFE COMPANY MANAGEMENT TEAM

Front Row - L to R: James M. Gerlach, Executive Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer; Brent Mardis, FSR, MAAP, Vice President & Chief Actuary; Debra J. Richardson, Senior Vice President
and Corporate Secretary; Kevin R. Wingert, CLU, CHFC, FLMI, President ; Terry A. Reimer, CPA, FLMI, Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and Treasurer; Wendy L. Carlson, JD, CPA,
Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel and Assistant Secretary; Ronald J. Grensteiner, CLU, Senior Vice President and National Marketing Director.

Back Row - Lto R: Jean Burt, Assistant Vice President & Assistant Treasurer, Harley A. Whitfield Jr., Assistant Vice President of Market Conduct & Assistant Secretary; Judith Z. Karcher, Vice
President of Compliance; Paulette Philpott, Vice President Personnel & Group Administration; Carl Davis, Regional Vice President of Marketing; Joe Wanzek, Vice President of Information Systems;
Jerry Holiz, Vice President of National Guard; David J. Roepsch, Regional Vice President of Marketing; Tim Womack, Assistant Vice President & Senior Investment Analyst; David Lowe, Assistant
Vice President of Actuarial; Bruce L Norton, Assistant Vice President of Technical Support; Lisa McQuerrey, Assistant Vice President; Aaron L. Cottrell, Assistant Vice President of Information
Technology; Linda L. Bennett, Assistant Vice President of General Services; Jamie D. Moher, Vice President of Annuity Administration.

“We will speak as one voice, act as one being, put one and only one face
forward for all to see. That face will be developed to bring maximum

impact and favorable response in the marketplace.”

Y
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

OUR PEOPLE THE BOARD

Deliver of Directors
HOLDING COMPANY

“We value the ongOing leadership Of our D.J. Noble, 70, Chairman of the Board, President and Treasurer

James M. Gerlach, 59, Executive Vice President

distinguished Board of Directors, who provide

Robert L. Hilton, 73, Insurance Consultant

John M. Matovina, 47, Private Investor

American Equity with sound counsel, personal

Ben T. Morris, 55, President, CEO and Director, Sanders Morris
Harris, Inc.

integrity and solid judgment drawing from

David S. Mulcahy, 49, Principal, MABSCO Capital, Inc. and
Chairman, Monarch Manufacturing Company

extensive experience.”

A.J. Strickland, 111, 60, Professor of Strategic Management at the
University of Alabama

I H E BOARD Harley A. Whitfield, 71, Of Counsel, Whitfield & Eddy, P.L.C.

of Directors
LIFE COMPANY ~“ %

[LEFT TO RIGHT, FRONT TO BACK]

Jack W. Schroeder, 76, Vice Chairman. Over 50 years’
experience in the insurance industry.

D. J. Noble, 70, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer.
Over 50 years’ experience in the insurance industry.

William J. Oddy, 57, Chief Executive Officer, Farm Bureau Life
Insurance Company. Over 30 years’ experience in the insurance
industry.

James M. Gerlach, 59, Executive Vice President and Chief
Marketing Officer. Over 35 years’ financial and management
experience.

Debra J. Richardson, 45, Senior Vice President and Secretary.
Over 20 years’ experience in the insurance industry.

Terry A. Reimer, 56, Executive Vice President, Treasurer and Chief
Operating Officer. Over 30 years’ accounting and management
experience.

David S. Mulcahy, 49, Principal, MABSCO Capital, Inc. and
Chairman, Monarch Manufacturing Company. Over 20 years’
experience in the accounting industry.

Kevin Wingert, 44, President. Over 20 years’ marketing
experience. [inset]

e
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Shareholder and Group Information

TRANSFER AGENT

American Equity welcomes your comments and interest. For change of name or address, to replace lost stock certificates or any other questions contact:
Debra J. Richardson, Senior Vice President & Secretary
American Equity Investment Life Holding Company
5000 Westown Parkway, Suite 440
West Des Moines, lowa 50266

(515) 457-1704 or 1-888-221-1234 ext. 1704
Cusip Numbers: 025676 10 7 Common Stock

kA
AMERICAN EQUITY GROUP OF COMPANIES

AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY
AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY OF NEW YORK, INC.
AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, LC
AMERICAN EQUITY CAPITAL, INC.
AMERICAN EQUITY CAPITAL TRUST |

AMERICAN EQUITY CAPITAL TRUST Il

% sk e

STREET ADDRESS INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

5000 Westown Parkway Ernst & Young LLP
Suite 440 801 Grand Avenue, Suite 3400
West Des Moines, lowa 50266 Des Moines, IA 50309

(515) 2432727

PREFERRED MAILING ADDRESS CONTACT AMERICAN EQUITY

P.O. Box 71216 1-888-221-1234

Des Moines, lowa 50325 Fax (515) 221-9989
TELEPHONE NUMBERS | WEB SITE |

(515) 221-0002 www.american-equity.com

WATS: 1-888-221-1234
FAX: (515) 221-9989
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Selected Financial Data

Thefoll owing selected consolidatedfinancial data as of andforthe periodsindicatedhave been derivedfrom our consolidatedfinancial statements, included elsewhere
in this Annual Report, which have been audite dby Emst & Young, LLP, independent accountants. The selected consolidatedfinancial datafor 2001, 2000, 1999, 1998, and
1997 shouldbereadin conjunction with our consolidatedfinancial statements and relatednotes and “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations”™ appearing elsewhere in this Annual Eeport.

As of and for the year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1009 1998 1007
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Income Data:

Fevenues
Traditional life and accident and health insurance premivms ... ... .............. ... .. § 13,141 4 11,034 § 10,294 4 10,528 § 11424
Antmity and single premium undversal lifeproduct charges ... o oL 12,520 8,338 3452 642 12
Net itnwestnetib 10000 ... . . 140,374 0477 64,610 26,357 4,018
Realized gaing on sales of inwestmoents ... ... .. Ta7 5,766 1454 427 -
Urnrealized gains on denivatives ... ... 13,554 - - - -
Total TEVEIIES ... 180,576 114,615 79,810 57,954 15455

Benefits and expenses

Insorance policy benefits and change in futore policy benefits .0 0L 0,762 3728 7,231 6,085 7440

Interest credited to account talances . ... 783 46,529 41737 15,838 24,129

Change in far value of embedded deriwatives .. 0 12,921 - - - -

Interest expense onnotes payable .. o 2,881 2,330 596 789 90

Interest expense on General & gency Commissionand Servicing Agreement ... ... .. 5,716 5058 3,861 1,652 183

Interest expense onamounts due under repurckase agreements ... L 1123 3267 3491 1,528 297

Interest expense onamount dueto Telrsurer ... . 381 - - - -

Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs and value of insurance in force acouired 23,145 &, 806 779 2,294 960

Other operting costs and EXDENSES ... ... L 17,071 14370 12,129 a.763 a,231
Total benefits and expenses .. ... ... 170,823 09,907 76,715 36,950 20,215
Income (logs) before income taxes, minority interests and curmulative effect of change in

accounting prncple ... 0453 14,618 3005 1,004 4,760}
Income tasz(empensed beneflt ..o L (333 [2,385) 1,370 e 1,391
Income (loss) before minonity interests and curmdative effect of change in accounting principle 0120 12.233 4465 244 (3,360)
Minority interests in subsidiaries:

Earningg attributable to company-obli gated mandatorily redeemable preferred secunties of

subsidlary IIUats .. (7440 (7449 (2020 - -

Income (1ogg) before curmilative effect of changein accounting principle ... ... ... .. 1,671 4784 2443 244 (3,360
Curmilative effect of change in accourting for derivatives ... ... ... oL (799 — — — —
Metincome (loss) ..o b 571 § 4,754 b 2443 § 244 b (3,368
Per share data:
Eamings (loss) per common sHare ... . $ 0.05 b 0.29 $ 0.1s b n.oz $ (070
Eamings (loss) per common share - assuming dilution ... o o L 0.05 0.26 0.14 0.0z (070
Diwidends declared per common share ... o 0.01 n.ot 0.01 _ _
Consolidated Balance Sheet data:
Total S8Rt . § 4,392,445 § 2528126 $ 1717619 § 708,110 § 239711
Policybenefitressrves ... ... 3,993,045 2099015 1,358,874 541,082 155,908
Motes pasrable o 46,667 44,000 20,600 10,000 10,000
Amounts due to related party under General Agency Comrd ssion and Servicing Agreement 46,607 76.028 62,119 27,536 11,278
Trust preferred securities issued by subsidiarytousts ... oo 100,155 Q9503 EEREW - -
Stockholders” equity .o 41,567 58,652 34,324 66,151 54426
Other Financial Data:
Life subsidiaries statutory capital and surplus ... o o 177,368 $ 145048 139,355 $ 30,948 § 64,710
Life subsidiaries” net gains (logses) from opemtions before income tastes and realized capital

gainz (lOSSES) . L (5,875 9190 30498 10,072 7,101
Life subsidiaries’ statutory net income (loss) ... [17,158) 10420 17,337 4,504 4470
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s discussion and analysis reviews our consolidated financial position at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and
our consolidated results of operationsforthe three years ended December31, 2001, and where appropriate, factorsthat may
affect future financial performance. This analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements, notes thereto and selected consolidated financial data appearing elsewhere in this report.

All statements, trend analyses and other information contained in this report and elsewhere (such asz in filings by us with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, pressreleases, presentations by us or ourmanagement or oral statements ) relative
to markets for our products and trends in our operations or financial results, as well as other statements including words
such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “plan,” “estimate,” “‘expect,” “intend,” and other similar expressions, constitute forward-
looking statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are
subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results to be materially
different from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among other things:

EENT3 EENYY

. general economic conditions and other factors, including prevailing interest rate levels and stock and
credit m arket performance which may affect (among otherthings) our ability to sell our products, our
ability to access capital resources and the costs associated therewith, the market value of our investments
and the lapse rate and profitability of our policies

. customer response to new products and marketing initiatives
. mortality and other factors which may affect the profitability of our products
. changes in the Federal income tax laws and regulations which may affect the relative income tax

advantages of our products
. increasing competition in the sale of annuities

. regulatory changes or actions, including those relating to regulation of financial services affecting
{among other things) bank sales and underwriting of insurance products and regulation of the sale,
underwriting and pricing of products

. the risk factors oruncertainties listed from time to time in ourprivate placement memorandums or filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission

Overview

We commencedbusiness on January 1, 1996, shortly after our formation and incorporation. Asafoundationforbeginning
our buginess, we acquired two existing blocks of insurance from another insurance company, of which several of our
executive officers were previously employees. Later in 1996, we acquired another life msurance company with no existing
insurance which expanded our licensing authority to sell insurance and annuities to 23 states and the District of Columbia.
Since then, we have expanded our licensing to 43 states and the District of Columbia. On June 5, 2001, we formed aNew
York domiciled insurance company named American Equity Investment Life Insurance Company of New Y ork.

We specialize in the sale of individual annuities (primarily deferred annuities) and, to a lesser extent, we also sell life
insurance. Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, premium collections for deferred annuities
are reported as deposit liabilities instead of as revenues. Earnings from products accounted for as deposit liabilities are
primarily generated from the excess of net investment income eamed overthe interest credited to the policyholder, orthe
"investment spread,” as well asrealized gains on investments. In the case of equity-index annuities, the investm ent spread
consists of net investment income in excess of the amortization of the cost of the options purchased to fund the index-based
component of the policyholder’s return. Revenue is also recognized from surrender charges deducted from the
policyholder's account balance.
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Commissions and certain other costs relating tothe production of new and renewal business are not expensed when incurred
but instead are capitalized as deferred policy acquisition costs. Deferred policy acquisition costs for annuities are amortized
into expense with the emergence of gross profits. Under certain circumstances, deferred policy acquisition costs will be
expensed earlier than originally estimated, for example, when policy terminations are higherthan originally estimated and
when investments relating to the liabilities of such products are called or sold at a gain prior to anticipated maturity.

Critical Accounting Policies

The increasing complexity of the business environment and applicable authoritative accounting guidance require us to
closely monitor our accounting policies. We have identified four critical accounting policies that are complex and require
significant judgment. A summary of our critical accounting policies is intended to enhance the reader’s ability to assess
our financial condition and results of operations and the potential volatility due to changes in estimates and changes in
guidance.

Valuation of ivestments

Our equity securities {common and non-redeemable preferred stocks) and fixed maturity securities (bonds and
redeemable preferred stocks maturing more than one year after issuance) classified as available for sale are reported at
estimated fair value. Unrealized gains and losses, if any, on these securities are included directly in a separate
component of stockholders” equity, net of income taxes and certain adjustments. Fair values for securities that are
actively traded are determined using quoted market prices. For fixed maturities that are not actively traded, fair values
are estimated using price matrices developed using vield data and other factors relating to instruments or securities with
similar characteristics. The carrying amounts of all our investments are reviewed on an ongoing basis for credit
deterioration. If this review indicates a decline in market value that is other than temporary, our carrying amount in the
investment is reduced to its fair value and a specific writedown is taken. Such reductions in carrying amount are
recognized as realized losses and charged to income.

Our periodic assessment of our ability to recover the amortized cost basis of investments that have materially lower
quoted market prices requires ahigh degree of management judgment and uncertainty. Factors considered in evaluating
whether adecline in value is other than temporary include: {a) the length of time and the extent to which the fair value
has been less than cost; (b} the financial conditions and near-term prospects of the issuer; (c) whetherthe investment is
considered investment grade; {d) whether the issuer is current on all payments and that all contractual payments have
been made as agreed; and {e) our intent and ability retain the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any
anticipated recovery. In addition, for securities expected to be sold, an other than temporary impairment charge is
recognized if we do not expect the fair value of a security to recoverto cost or amortized cost prior to the expected date
of sale. Once an impairment charge has been recorded, we then continue to reviewthe other than temporarily impaired
securities for appropriate valuation on an ongoing basiz. Realized lossesthrough a charge to earnings may be recognized
in future periods should management later conclude that the decline in market value below amortized cost is other than
temporary pursuant to our accounting policy described above.

We took writedowns on certain securities during the fourth quarter of 2001 totaling approximately $7,773,000 for
adjustments in accrual rates on certain collateralized bond obligations and the deterioration of economic conditions
following the September 11% terrorist attacks.

Derivative instruments

The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued, then subsequently amended, Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS™YNo. 133, Accounting for Derivative hstruments and Hedging Activities, which became effective
for the Company on January 1, 2001. Under SFAS No. 133, as amended, all derivative instruments {including certain
derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) are recognized in the balance sheet at their fair values and changes
in fair value are recognized immediately in earnings. This impacts the items of revenue and expense we repott on our
equity-index buginess in three ways.
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

First, we must mark to market the call options we use to fund the annual index credits on our equity index annuities
based upon quoted market prices from related counterparties. We amortize the full cost of these options as a charge
against net investment income overtheir one-year lives. Under SFAS No. 133, we are required also to record unrealized
gaings or losses on these options, even though any ultimate gain will be credited to the underlying policyholder, and no
losses will be incurred above the cost of the options, which is recognized in full through amortization. For the year
ended December 31, 2001, unrealized gains on derivatives of $13,554,000 represent the change in fair value on call
options used to fund the next-year income credit to the equity index annuities.

Second, under SFAS No. 133, the annual crediting liabilities on the Company’s equity index annuities are treated as a
“series of embedded derivatives” over the life of the applicable contracts. We are required to estimate the fair value of
these future liabilities by projecting the cost of the annual options we will purchase in the future to fund the index credits.
Our estimates of the fair value of these future liabilities are based on assumptions related to underlying policy terms
{(including minimum guarantees), growth rates, forward rates and expected lives of the policies. OQur equity index
annuities are designed to permit us to manage the risks associated with these future costs by changing the participation
rates, aszet fees and/or caps. This enables us to establish a budget for future option costs, which is used to make our
required estim ates under SFASNo. 133. The change in estimated fair value ofthe series of embedded options (including
the forward options) included in policyholder benefits in the Consolidated Statem ents of Income, was $12,921,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2001.

Third, we are required to adjust the amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs to reflect the impact of the first and
second items discussed above. Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs was decreased by $846,000 forthe year
ended December 31, 2001as a result of the impact of SFAS No. 133.

Deferred Folicy Acguisition Costs

Commissions and certain other costs relating to the production of new business are not expensed when incurred but
instead are capitalized as deferred policy acquisition costs. These costs are amortized into expense with the emergence
of gross profits. Only costs which are expected to be recovered from future policy revenues and gross profits may be
deferred. These costs congist principally of commissions, first-year bonus interest and certain costs of policy issuance.
Deferred policy acquisition costs totaled $492,737,000 at December 31, 2001. For annuity and single premium universal
life products, these costs are being amortized generally in proportion to expected gross profits from investments, and,
to a lesser extent, from surrender charges and mortality, and expense margins. Current period amortization must be
adjusted retrospectively if changes occur in estimates of future gross profits/margins (inclhuding the impact of realized
investment gains and losses). Qur estimates of future gross profits/margins are based on actuarial assumptions related
to the underlying policies terms, lives of the policies, yield on investments supporting the liabilities and level of expenses
necessary to maintain the polices over their entire lives.

Deferred mcome Tax Assets

Asof December31, 2001, the Company had $51,244,000 ofnet deferred incom e tax assetsrelated principally to book-to-
tax temporary differences in the recording of policy benefitreserves. The realization of these assets isbased upon estim ates
of future taxable income. Based upon future projections of sufficient taxable income of our life subsidiaries, and the
adoption of plans andpoliciesrelated to the Company’s net (non-life) operating loss and net capital loss carryforwards, the
Company has not recorded a valuation allowance against these assets.

Results of Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2001

New annuity deposits forthe year ended December31,2001 increased 138%to $2,006,882,000, compared to $843,340,000
for 2000. The 2000 amount represented a 3% increase over the 1999 amount of $816,126,000. Our annuity reserves
continuedto show strong growth throughout 2001, primarily asaresult ofthe groswwth in ouragency force. Annuity reserves
and the number of our appointed agents have grown as follows during the last four years:
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Annuity Reserves Agenis
1998 $ 525,765,000 10,000
1999 1,341,256,000 18,000
2000 2,079,561,000 22,000
2001 3,968,455,000 34,000

The growth in our annuity business resulted in asizeable increase in our eamings from invested assets for 2001 and 2000.
While certain expenses also increased as aresult of the growth in our annuity business, the incremental profits from alarger
deposit base allowed us to offset a greater portion of our fixed operating costs and expenses. Our 1999 results also
benefitted from a gain of $1,541,000 on the termination of a total return swap contract.

Net income totaled $872,000 in 2001, $4,784,000 in 2000 and $2,443,000 in 1999. The increase in net income in 2000
compared to 1999 was adirect result of the continued growth in our annuity buginess. Thistrend continued during 2001
through thethird quarter as the Company’s net income totaled $4,797,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2001.
We incurred a fourth quarter loss of $3,926,000, primarily as a result of our decision after September 11 to maintain
approximately 25% of our assets in cash equivalents. This high liquidity position, which we maintained for most of the
quarter, resulted in a decrease in expected investment earnings. Most ofthe cash was deployed in December, 2001, and
during the first quarter of 2002. Had we chosen to deploy the cash sooner, securities meeting ourinvestment criteria were
available. Based upon the difference between a weighted average yield of 7% on bonds actually purchased in the fourth
quarter and the actual yield earned on our assets held in cash equivalents during the fourth quarter, we estimate that the
decline in net investment income attributable to our high level of liquidity was approximately $8,700,000.

Adjusted net operating income totaled $1,298,000 in 2001, $5,701,000 in 2000 and $2,500,000 in 1999. This excludes
the impact of SFAS No. 133 as well as realized gains and losses on investments, neither of which management believes
are indicative of operating trends. The following is a reconciliation of net income to adjusted operating income.

Year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Dollars in thousands)
Net Income $ 872 $ 4,784 $ 2.443
Adjustments:
Net realized gains (losses) on sales of
investments 512 917) (7)
Impact of SFAS 133
Unrealized gains on derivatives 8,810 - -
Adjustments for changes in amortization
of deferred policy acquisition costs (550) - -
Change in fair value of embedded
derivatives (8,399) - -
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
for derivatives (799) _ _
Adjusted Net Operating Income 3 1298 3§ 3,701 3 2.500
Adjusted net operating income per common
share:
Basic $ 008 § 035 % 0.16
Diluted 0.07 031 0.14
Weighted average common shares
Basic 16,405,978 16,240,267 15,883,287
Diluted 18,522,318 18,388,034 17,517,909
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The adjustments forrealized gains (losses) on investments and the impact of SFAS 133 are net of incometaxes attributable
to those items.

Traditional life and accident and health insurance premiums increased 19% to $13,141,000 in 2001 and increased
T%0t0$11,034,000 in 2000 from $10,294,000 in 1999. The majority of our traditional life and accident and health insurance
premium g congist of group policies sold to aparticularmarket. These changes are principally attributableto corresponding
changes in direct sales of life products.

Annuity and single preminm universal life product charges (surrender charges assessed against policy withdrawals
and mortality and expense charges assessed against single premium universal life policyholder account balances) increased
50%to $12,520,000 in 2001, and 142% to $8,338,000 in 2000, from $3,452,000in 1999. These increases are principally
attributable to the growth in our annuity business and correspondingly, increases in annuity policy withdrawals subject to
surrender charges. Withdrawals from annuity and single premium universal life policies were $223,163,000, $144,077,000
and $60,844,000 for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Net investment income increased 57%to $140,374,000 in 2001 and 38%0 to $89,477,000 in 2000 from $64,610,000 in
1999. Theseincreases are principally attributable to the growth in our annuity business and correspondingly, increases in
ourinvested assets. Invested assets (amortized cost basis) increased 87% to $3,720,435,000 at December 31, 2001 and
33%10 $1,995,062,000 at December 31, 2000 comparedto $1,499,729,000 at December 31,1999, while the effective yield
eamed on average invested assets was 6.94%, 7.64% and 7.34% for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. The effective
yield in 2001 was lower primarily as aresult of our decision after September 11 to maintain approximately 25% of our total
assets in cash equivalents. Netinvestment income also includes amounts related to the options we hold to fund the annual
index credits on our equity index annuities. This includes gains received on such options, which are passed on to the equity
index policyholders, and the cost of such options, which is amortized ratably overthe life of the options. Gains received
on options held for equity index policies were $3,085,000, $13,182,000, and $17,969,000 for 2001, 2000, and 1999,
respectively. Costs of amortization of such options were $73,567,000, $55,927,000 and $24,121,000 for 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively.

Realized gains on investm ents decreased §6%to $787,000 in 2001 compared to $5,766,000 in 2000 and $1,454,000 in
1999. In 2001, net realized gains of $787,000 consisted of gains 0f$12,999,000, offset by losses of $4,439,000 on the sale
of securities and write downs of approximately 37,773,000 in the fair value of certain securities in recognition of other than
temporary impairments. In 2000, net realized gains of $5,766,000 included (i) realized gains of $7,177,000 attributable
to gains on the termination of total return swap agreements for which there was an offsetting impact on net investment
income and (ii) realized losses 0f $1,411,000 on the sale of certain corporate fixed maturity and equity securities. The
investment program involving the total return swap agreements was terminated in February, 2000, In 1999, realized gaing
of $1,454,000 was primarily attributable to a gain realized on the termination of a total return swap contract.

Unrealized gains on derivatives were $13,554,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001. These amounts arise from
the adoption of SFAS No. 133 as of January 1, 2001, which requires the recognition of unrealized gains from the change
in fair value of derivative securities. See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in
this report.

Traditional life and accident and health insurance benefits increased 12% to $9,762,000 in 2001 and 21% to
$8,728,000 in 2000 compared to $7,232,000 in 1999. These increases are aitributable to an increase in death benefits and
surrenders.

Interest credited to annuity policyholder account halances increased 73% to $97,923,000 in 2001 and 35% to
$56,529,000 in 2000 from $41,727,000 in 1999. These increases are principally attributable to increases in annuity
liabilities. The amounts are also impacted by changes in the weighted average crediting rates for our annuity liabilities,
which are summarized as follows:
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Fixed Rate Fixed Rate Equity Index Equity Index

(without bonuses) (with honuses) Credits Opton Costs
2001 5.57% 6.09% 1.42% 4.31%
2000 5.20% 5.99% 3.72% 5.09%
1999 5.11% 6.51% 5.29% 5.35%

The above crediting rates on our fixed rate annuities includes both multi-year rate guaranteed and annually adjustable rate
products. Such rates are disclosed with and without the impact of first-yearbonuses paidto policyholders. Generally such
bonuses are deducted from the comm issions paid to sales agents on such products and deferred as policy acquisition costs.
With respect to our equity index annuities, the weighted average option costs represent the expenses we incurto fund the
annual index credits on the equity index business. Gainsrealized on such options are recorded in net investment income,
and are also reflected as an expense in interest credited to annuity policyholder account balances. Option costs are
amortized as a charge against net investment income.

Weighted average crediting rates on ourfixed rate annuities were higher in 2001 comparedto 2000 and 1999 primarily as
aresult ofthe introduction of our multi-year guaranteedrate products, which were designed with significantly lower sales
commissions and, correspondingly, lower spread targets. Total commissions and other acquisition costs deferred in 2001
represented 8.9% of premium deposits, compared to 12.5% and 14.0% in 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Change in market value of emb edded derivatives consisted of a decrease of$12,921,000 for the year ended December
31, 2001. These amounts arise from the adoption of SFAS No. 133 as of January 1, 2001, which requires recognition of
the change in estimated fair value of equity index annuity reserves. See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere in this report.

Interest expense on General Agency Commission and Servicing Agreem ent decreased 4%1t0 $5,716,000in 2001 and
increased 54%to $5,958,000 in 2000 from $3,861,000 in 1999. These changesare principally attributable to corresponding
changes in the amount of comm igzions paidby American Equity Life underthiz A greement. See Note § to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report.

Interest expense on notes pavable increased 23%t0 $2,881,000in 2001 and 161% to $2,339,000 in 2000 from $896,000
in 1999. These increases are attributable to increases in the outstanding borrowings during 2001 and 2000, offset in part
by adecrease inthe average applicable interest rate. The applicable interest rate was 6.28%, 7.99% and 7.56% for 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively.

Interest expense on amounts due under repurchase agreements decreased 68% to $1,123,000 in 2001 and 6% to
$3,267,000 in 2000 from $3,491,000 in 1999. These changes are principally attributable to a decrease in the average
balances outstanding. SeeNote 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statem ents included elzewhere in thizreport.

Interest expense on amount due toreinsurer was $381,000 in 2001, and arises from the financial reinsurance transaction
we entered into with Swiss Re effective January 1, 2001. SeeNote 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included
elsewhere in this report.

Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs and value of insurance in force acquired increased 163%o to
$23,145,000in 2001 and 19% to $8,806,000 in 2000 from $7,379,000 in 1999. These increases are primarily dueto(i)the
growth in our annuity business as discussed above; (ii)the introduction of multi-yearrate guaranteed products with shorter
expected lives; and (iii) an increase of $84 6,000 resulting from SFAS No. 133. SeeNote 1 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report.

Other operating costs and expenses increased 19% to $17,071,000 in 2001 and 18% to $14,370,000 in 2000 from
$12,129,000in1999. These increases areprincipally attributable to increases in marketing expenses, employees and related
salaries and costs of employment.
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Income taxes for 2001 were an expense of $333,000 compared to an expense of $2,385,000 in 2000, and a benefit of
$1,370,000 in 1999. Our effective tax rates for 2001, 2000 and 1999 were 1726, 33% and 16%0, respectively, excluding the
impact in 1999 of the elimination of a valuation allowance of $1,537,000 on deferred income tax assets. See Note 6 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report. These effective income tax rates varied
from the applicable statutory federal income tax rates of 35% principally due to: (i) the impact of eamings attributable to
company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of subsidiary trusts; (ii) the impact of state taxes on the
federal income tax expense; and (iii} in 1999, adjustment of the December31, 1998 net deferred tax agsets to the 35% rate.

Minority interest in earnings of subsidiaries includes amounts for distributions and the accretion ofthe issue discount
on company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred stocks of subsidiary trusts issued in 1999. Tax benefits
attributable to these amounts are reported as areduction of income tax expense. See Note 9 ofthe Notes tothe Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report.

Financial Condition
Investments

Ourinvestment strategy istomaintain apredominantly investment grade fixed incom e portfolio, provide adequate liquidity
to meet our cash obligations to policyholdersand others and maximize current income andtotal investment return through
active investment management. Consistent with this strategy, our investments principally consist of fixed maturity
securities and short-term investments. We also have approximately 1% of our invested assets at December 31, 2001 in
derivative instruments {equity market index call options) purchased in connection with the issuance of equity-index
annuities. Such options represent approximately 2% of the related equity index reserves.

Insurance statutes regulate the type of investments that our life subsidiaries are permitted to make and limit the amount
of funds that may be used for any one type of investment. In light ofthese statutes and regulations and our business and
investment strategy, we generally seek to invest in United States govemment and government-agency securities and
corporate securities rated investment grade by established nationally recognized rating organizationg or in securities of
comparable investment quality, if not rated.

We have classified a substantial portion of our fixed maturity investments as available-for-sale to maximize investment
flexibility. Available-for-sale securities are reported at market value and unrealized gains and losses, if any, on these
securities are included directly in aseparate component of stockholders® equity, thereby exposing stockholders’ equity to
incremental volatility due to changes in market interest rates and the accompanying changes in the reported value of
securities classified as available-for-sale, with stockholders” equity increasing as interest rates decline and, conversely,
decreaging as interest rates rise.

e,‘( AMERICAN EQUITY 2001 PEOPLE SERVICE FUTURE WE’RE THE ONE! 18 I
—

‘

-“.‘



AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Our investment portfolio is summarized in the table below:

December 31,

2001 2000
Carrying Carrying
Amount Percent Amount Percent
(Dollars in thousands)
Fized matunties:
TUnited States Government and agencies b 2087 484 552% % 1,391,939 65.6%
State, municipal, and other govemments 5,089 0.1% 4 884 0.2%%
Public utilities . ... ....... ... ... ... 38472 1.0% 11,200 0.5%
Corporate securities ... ... 473,556 12.5% 295801 13.9%
Redeemable preferred stocks . ... ... .. 92.64% 2.5% 33,987 4 0%
Mortgage and asset-backed securities . . 732,106 19.4% 116,009 5.5%
Total fized matunities ... ... ... ... .. 3,429,366 90.7% 1,903,840 39.7%
Equity secunities. ... ... ... ... 18,245 0.5% 6,671 0.3%
Mortgage loans ... ... ... 108,181 2.9% - 0.0%%
Dervative instruments .. ... ... ... ... ... 40,052 1.0% 34,707 1.6%
Policy loans . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 291 0.0% 264 0.0%
Cash and cash equivalents .. ... ... ... ... 184,130 4 9% 1757724 2.4%
Total cash and investments ... ... ... 5 3,780,265 100.0% § 2,121,206 100.0%

The table below presents ourtotal fix ed maturity securities by NAIC designation and the equivalentratings ofthe nationally
recognized securities rating organizations.

December 31,
2001 2000
NAIC Rating Agency Carrying Carrying
Designation Equivalent Amount Percent Amount Percent
(Dollars in thousands)

1 Laalbald . b 2,985,071 87.1% B 1,704,003 89.5%
2 Baa ................ 388,560 11.3% 187,012 10.4%
3 Ba. .. ............ .. 49 087 1.4% 2,825 0.1%
4 B 6,648 0.2% - -
5 Caa and lower ... .. .. - - - -
6 In or near default ... .. — — — —

Total fized maturities b 3429 366 100.0% 15033840 100, 0%

During 2001, we began a commercial mortgage loan program. At December31, 2001, we held $108,181,000 of mortgage
loang with comm itments outstanding of $15,265,000. These mortgage loans are diversified as to property type, location,
andloan size, and are collateralized by the related properties. Ourmortgage lending policies establish limits on the amount
that can be loanedto one borrower and require diversification by geographic location and collateral type. AtDecember
31,2001, the commercial mortgage loan portfolio i diversified by geographicregion and specific collateral property type
as follows:
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December 31,2001

Carrying Amount Percent
(Dollars in thousands)

Geographic distribution
East Morth Central b 9,189 8.5%
East South Central 16,029 14.8%
Middle Atlantic 18,352 17.0%
Mew England 3,496 3.2%
South Atlantic 39,260 36.3%
TWest Morth Central 21,855 20.2%

Total s 108,181 100.0%

December 31,2001

Carrying Amount Percent
(Dollars in thousands)

Property typ e distribution

Office b 42,059 38.9%
Fetail 19,131 17.7%
Industrial 28,609 26.4%
Hotel 13,135 12.1%
Mixzed usefother 5,247 4 9%y

Total $ 108,181 100.0%
Liahilities

Our liability for policy benefit reserves increased $1,894,030,000 and $741,039,000 during 2001 and 2000, respectively,
to $3,993,945,000 at December 31, 2001 and $2,099,915,000 at December 31, 2000, primarily due to annuity sales as
discussed above. Substantially all of our annuity products have a swrender charge feature designed to reduce early
withdrawal or surrender of the policies and to partially compensate us for our costs if policies are withdrawn early.
Notwithstanding these policy features, the withdrawal rates of policyholder funds may be affected by changes in interest
rates.

On October 18, 1996, we borrowed $10,000,000 from twobanks under avariable raterevolving credit agreement. Proceeds
from the borrowing were contributed to the capital and surplus of Am erican Equity Life ($6,000,000) and used to refinance
indebtedness we incuired to capitalize American Equity Life at the time of its formation ($4,000,000). During 1999, this
line of credit was increased to permit m aximum borrowings of $25,000,000, and we borrowed an additional $10,600,000,
bringing our liability fornotes payable to $20,600,000 at December 31, 1999. During 2000, the maximum borrowing level
was increased to $50,000,000, and the Company borrowed an additional $23,400,000. We loaned the proceeds ofthe 1999
and 2000 borrowings to American Equity Investment Service Company (see discussion that follows under Liguidity af
Parent Company). During 2001, we borrowed an additional $6,000,000 and contributed the proceeds to the capital and
surplus of American Equity Life. Effective December 31, 2001, we exercized an option to convert the line of credit to a
term loan to be paid in fifteen equal quarterly installments. Under this agreement, we are required to maintain minimum
capital and surplus levels at American Equity Life and meet certain other financial and operating ratiorequirements. We
are also prohibited from incurring other indebtedness for borrowedmoney without obtaining a waiver from the lenders and
from paying dividends on our capital stock in excess 0f 10% of our consolidatednet income for the priorfiscal year (except
that in 1999 we were permitted to make a dividend payment equal to 44% of our consolidated net income for 1998).

Stockholders” Equity
We were initially capitalized in December, 1995 and January, 1996 through the issuance of shares of Common Stock for

cash of $4,000,000. Subsequent to our initial capitalization (400,000 shares of Common Stock aftera May 29, 1996 100-
for-1 stock split), we issued additional shares of Common Stock, warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock and shares
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of Series Preferred Stock convertible into shares of Common Stock in several private placement offerings as follows:

Warrant
Number Issued Exercise
Description Issue Price Shares ‘Warrants Price
Common Stock & Warrants
1996 5 333 2,340,000 468,000 5 3.33
1997 333 11,994 2394 3.33
1998 333 9.000 1.800 3.33
2,360,994 472,194@
1997 4.00 1,711,248 342,249 4.00
- 204,750 4.00
1,711,248 346,999
Common Stock — 1997 333 7998,750
1998 Series A Participating Preferred Stock 16.00 625,000

(1)
2
]
i

issued to the placement agent in payment of aportion of the compensation due to the placement agent
exercised during 1998

exercised during 1999

¥ jssued to the placement agent as part of placement agent compensation; 170,625 exercised in 2000, and the
remaining 34,125 expire on April 30, 2002.

The aggregate net proceeds from these offerings, including proceeds received from the exercise of warrants, was
$65,699,000, substantially all of which were contributed to the capital and surplus of American Equity Life or used to
fund the acquisition of the life insurance company acquired in 1996.

A portion of the 7,998,750 shares of Common Stock issued in 1997 at $5.33 per share were issued in a rights offering
to existing stockholders and in connection therewith, certain of our officers and directors received management
subscription rights to purchase one share of Common Stock for each share owned and one-half share of Common Stock
for each stock option held on the offering date. An aggregate of 2,157,375 management subscription rights were issued
tonine officers and directors at that time. The management subscription rights have an exercise price of $5.33 per share
and expire on December 1, 2002. Farm Burean Life Insurance Company purchased 4,687,500 shares of Common Stock
in this offering and received aright of first refusal to maintain a 20% ownership interest in our capital stock.

The 625,000 shares of 1998 Series A Participating Preferred Stock issued in 1998 have participating dividend rights with
the shares of Common Stock, when and as such dividends are declared. The preferred shares are convertible into shares
of Common Stock on a three for one basis upon the earlier of the initial public offering of our Common Stock or
December 31, 2003.

In September, 1999, American Equity Capital Trust I (“Trust ), our wholly-owned subsidiary, issued $25,970,000 of
8% Convertible Trust Preferred Securities (the ““8% Trust Preferred Securities™). In connection with Trust I’s issuance
of the 8% Trust Preferred Securities and the related purchase by us of all of Trust I’s common securities, we issued
$26,773,000 in principal amount of our 8% Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures, due September 30, 2029 (the
“8% Debentures™) to Trust I. The sole assets of Trust I are the 8% Debentures and any interest accrued thereon. Each
8% Trust Preferred Security is convertible into one share of our common stock at a conversion price equal to the lesser
of (1) $30 per share or (i) 90% of the initial price per share to the public of common stock sold in connection with our
initial public offering of such comm on stock (the “IPO™), upon the earlier of the 91* day following the IPO or September
30, 2002, The interest payment dates on the 8% Debentures correspond to the distribution dates on the 8% Trust
Preferred Securities.
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The 8% Trust Preferred Securities, which have a liquidation value of $30 pershare plus accrued and unpaid distributions,
mature simultaneously with the 8% Debentures. As of December 31, 2001, 865,671.33 shares of 8% Trust Preferred
Securities were outstanding, all of which are unconditionally guaranteed by us to the extent of the assets of Trust I.

In October, 1999, American Equity Capital Trust IT (“Trust IT), our wholly-owned subsidiary, issued 97,000 shares of
5% Trust Preferred Securities (the ““5% Trust Preferred Securities™”). The 5% Trust Preferred Securities, which have a
liquidation value of $100 per share ($97,000,000 in the aggregate) have been assigned afair value of $78,577,000 (based
upon an effective 7% yield-to-maturity). The congideration received by Trust II in connection with the issuance of the
5% Trust Preferred Securities consisted of fixed income trust preferred securities of equal value which were issued by
the parent of Farm Bureau Life insurance Company. Farm Bureau beneficially owns 32.29% of our common stock.

In connection with Trust IT’s issuance of the 5% Preferred Securities and the related purchase by us of all of Trust IT°s
common securities, we issued $100,000,000 in principal amount of our 5% Subordinated Debentures, due June 1, 2047
{the “3% Debentures™) to Trust II. The sole assets of Trust IT are the 3% Debentures and any interest accrued thereon.
The interest payment dates on the 5% Debentures comrespond to the distribution dates on the 5% Trust Preferred
Securities. The 5% Trust Preferred Securities mature simultaneously with the 5% Debentures. All of the 5% Trust
Preferred Securities are unconditionally guaranteed by us to the extent of the assets of Trust II.

Liquidity for msurance Operations

Our life subsidiaries generally receive adequate cash flow from premium collections and investment income to meet its
obligations. Annuity and life insurance liabilities are generally long-term in nature. Policyholders may, however,
withdraw funds or surrender their policies, subject to surrender and withdrawal penalty provisions. At December 31,
2001, approximately 99.9% of our annuity liabilities were subject to penalty upon surrender, with a weighted average
remaining surrender charge period of 8.6 years and a weighted average surrender charge rate of 9.27%.

We believe that the diversity of our investment portfolio and the concentration of investments in high-quality, liquid
gecurities provides sufficient liquidity to meet foreseeable cash requirements. The investment portfolio at December
31,2001 included $3,471,814,000 (amortized cost basis) of publicly traded investment grade bonds. Although there is
no present need or intent to dispose of such investments, our life subsidiaries could readily liquidate portions of its
investments, if such a need arose. In addition, investments could be used to facilitate borrowings under reverse-
repurchase agreements or dollar-roll transactions. Such borrowings have been used by our life subsidiary from time to
time to increase our retum on investments and to improve liquidity.

Liguiidity af Farent Company

The parent company iz a legal entity separate and distinct from its subsidiaries, and has no business operations. The
parent company needs liquidity primarily to service itz debt, including the subordinated debentures issuedto subsidiary
trusts, pay operating expenses and pay dividends to stockholders. The primary sources of funds forthese payments are:
(i) principal and interest payments received on the parent company’s note receivable from American Equity Investment
Service Company (see discussion that follows); (ii) dividends on capital stock and surplus note interest payments from
our life subsidiaries; (iii) cash on hand ($3,755,000 at December 31, 2001}); and (iv) cash ($601,000 at December 31,
2001)that may be distributed by American Equity Investment Properties, L.C. which holds the remaining cash proceeds
from the sale ofthe office building in Birmingham, Alabamathat was sold in 1998. The parent company may also obtain
cash by issuing debt or equity securities.

The payment of dividends or the distributions, including surplus note payments, by our life subsidiaries is subject to
regulation by each subsidiaries state of domicile’s insurance department. Currently, our life subsidiaries may pay
dividends or make other distributions without the prior approval of their state of domicile’s insurance department, unless
such payments, together with all other such payments within the preceding twelve months, exceed the greater of (1) life
subsidiary’s net gain from operations (excluding net realized capital gains or losses) for the preceding calendar year, or
{2) 10% of the life subsidiary’s statutory surplus at the preceding December 31. For 2002, up to approximately
$17,800,000 can be distributed as dividends or surplus note payments by our life subsidiaries without prior approval of
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their state of domicile’s insurance depariment. In addition, dividends and surplus note payments may be made only out
of eamed surplus, and all surplus note payments are subject to prior approval by regulatory authorities. OQur life
subsidiaries had approximately $8,400,000 of earned surplus at December 31, 2001.

The maximum distribution permitted by law or contract is not necessarily indicative of an insurer's actual ability to pay
such distributions, which may be constrained by business and regulatory considerations, such as the impact of such
distributions on surplus, which could affect the insurer's ratings or competitive position, the amount of premiums that
can be written and the ability to pay future dividends or make other distributions. Further, state insurance laws and
regulations require that the statutory surplus of our life subsidiaries following any dividend or distribution must be
reasonable in relation to our outstanding liabilities and adequate for its financial needs.

The transfer of funds by American Equity Life is also restricted by certain covenants in our loan agreement which,
among otherthings, requires American Equity Life to maintain statutory capital and surplus (including the asset valuation
and interest maintenance reserves) of $140,000,000 plus 25% of statutory net income and 75% of the capital
contributions to American Equity Life for periods subzequent to December 31, 2000. Underthe most restrictive of these
limitations, none of our earned surplus at December 31, 2001 would be available for distribution by American Equity
Life to the parent company in the form of dividends or other distributions.

Statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted for our life subsidiaries differ in many respects from those
goveming the preparation of financial statements under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
("GAAP"). Accordingly, statutory operating results and statutory capital and surplus may differ substantially from
amounts reported in the GAAP basis financial statements for comparable items. Information as to statutory capital and
surplus and statutory net income for our life subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 is included in Note 110of the Notes to Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this report.

American Equity Life has entered into a general agency commission and servicing agreement with American Equity
Investment Service Company, an affiliated company wholly-owned by the Company’s chairman and president, whereby
the affiliate acts as a national supervisory agent with responsibility for paying commissions to the Company’s agents.
This agreement initially benefits the American Equity Life’s statutory surplus by extending the payment of a portion of
the first year commisgions on new annuity business written by American Equity Life over a longer period of time, and
thereby enabling American Equity Life to conduct a comparatively greater volume of business. In subsequent periods,
the American Equity Life’s statutory surplus is reduced through the payment of renewal commissions to the affiliate on
this business based upon the account balances of the annuities remaining in force for a period of five years (see Note
8 of the Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report). During the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Service Company paid $28,400,000 and $37,723,000, respectively, to agents
of the Company. The Company paid renewal commissions to the Service Company of $23,198,000, $20,449,000 and
$7,001,000, respectively, during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

During 1999, the parent company agreed to loan the affiliate up to $30,000,000 as the source of funds for the affiliate
portion of first year commissions and had advanced $41,565,000 through December 31, 2000 pursuant to the promissory
note evidencing this agreement. Principal and interest are payable quarterly over five years from the date of the advance.

Future payments by American Equity Life on business in force at December 31, 2001 are dependent upon the account
balances ofthe annuities remaining in force on each remaining quarterly renewal commission payment date. Estimated
future renewal commission payments by American Equity Life would be: $23,604,000 for 2002; $20,230,000 for 2003;
$16,156,000 for 2004 and $3,982,000 for 2005.

Inflation

Inflation does not have a significant effect on our balance sheet. We have minimal investments in property, equipment

or inventories. To the extent that interest rates may change to reflect inflation or inflation expectations, there would be
an effect on our balance sheet and operations. Higher interest rates experienced in recent periods have decreased the
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value of our fixed maturity investments. Itis likely that declining interest rates would have the opposite effect. Tt is not
possible to calculate the effect such changes in interest rates, if any, have had on our operating results.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We seek to invest our available funds in a manner that will maximize shareholder value and fund future obligations to
policyholders and debtors, subject to appropriate risk considerations. We seek to meetthis objective through investments
that: {i) consist predominately of investment grade fixed maturity securities of very high credit quality; (ii)have projected
returns which satisfy our spread targets; and (iii) have characteristics which support the underlying liabilities. Many of
our products incorporate surrender charges, market interest rate adjustments or other features to encourage persistency.

We seek to maximize the total return on our available-for-sale investments through active investment management.
Accordingly, we have determined that our available-for-sale portfolio of fixed maturity securities is available to be sold
in response to: (i) changes in market interest rates; (ii) changes in relative values of individual securities and asset
gectors; (iii) changes in prepayment risks; (iv) changes in credit quality outlook for certain securities; (v} liquidity needs;
and (vi) other factors. We have aportfolio of held for investment securities which consists principally of zero coupon
bonds izssued by U.S. government agencies. These securities are purchased to secure long-term yields which meet our
spread targets and support the underlying liabilities.

Interest rate risk is our primary market risk exposure. Substantial and sustained increases and decreases in market
interest rates can affect the profitability of our products and the market value of our investments. The profitability of
most of our products depends on the spreads between interest yield on investments and rates credited on insurance
liabilities. We have the ability to adjust crediting rates (participation or asset fee rates for equity-index annuities) on
substantially all of our annuity policies at least annually (subject to minimum guaranteed values). In addition,
substantially all of our annuity products have surrender and withdrawal penalty provisions designed to encourage
persistency and to help ensure targeted spreads are eamed. However, competitive factors, including the impact of the
level of surrenders and withdrawals, may limit ourability to adjust or maintain crediting rates at levels necessary to avoid
natrowing of spreads under certain market conditiong.

A major component of our interest rate risk management program is structuring the investment portfolio with cash flow
characteristics consistent with the cash flow characteristics of our insurance liabilities. We use computer models to
simulate cash flows expected from our existing business under various interest rate scenarios. These simulations enable
us to measure the potential gain or loss in fair value of our interest rate-sensitive financial instruments, to evaluate the
adequacy of expected cash flows trom our assets to meet the expected cash requirements of our liabilities and to
determine if it is necessary to lengthen or shorten the average life and duration of our investment portfolio. (The
“duration™ of a security is the time weighted present value ofthe security’s expected cash flows and is used to measure
a security’s sengsitivity to changes in interest rates). When the durations of assets and liabilities are similar, exposure
to interest rate risk iz minimized because a change in value of assets should be largely offiet by a change in the value
of liabilities. At December 31, 2001, the effective duration of our fixed maturity securities and short-term investments
was approximately 9.5 years and the estimated duration of our insurance liabilities was approximately 6.7 years.

If interest rates were to increase 10% from levels at December 31, 2001, we estimate that the fair value of our fixed
maturity securities, net of corresponding changes in the values of deferred policy acquisition costs and insurance in force
acquired would decrease by approximately $179,642,000. The computer models used to estimate the impact of a 10%
change in market interest rates incorporate numerous assumptions, require significant estimates and assume an
immediate and parallel change in interest rates without any management of the investment portfolio in reaction to such
change. Consequently, potential changes in value of our financial instruments indicated by the simulations will likely
be different from the actual changes experienced under given interest rate scenarios, and the differences may be material.
Because we actively manage our investments and liabilities, our net exposure to interest rates can vary over time.

With respect to our equity index business, we purchaze call options on the applicable equity indexes to fund the annual
index credits on such annuities. These options are primarily one-year instruments purchased to match the funding
requirements of the underlying policies. Qur risk associated with the current options we hold is limited to the cost of
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such options, which we amortize in full over their one-year lives. Market value changes associated with those
investments are substantially offset by an increase or decrease in the amounts added to policyholder account balances
for equity-indexed products. In 2001, we realized gains of $3,085,000 on our equity index options, and we credited
$5,015,000 to policy holders. On the respective anniversary dates ofthe equity index policies, we purchase new one-year
call options to fundthe next annual index credits. The risk associated with these prospective purchases isthe uncertainty
of the cost, which will determine whether we are able to eam our spread on our equity index business. This iz arisk we
manage through the terms of our equity index annuities, which permit us to change annual participation rates, asset fees,
and/or caps, subject to guaranteed minimums. By reducing participation rates, asset fees or caps, we can limit option
costs to budgeted amounts except in cases where the minimum guarantees would prevent further reductions. Based
upon actuarial testing conducted as a part of the design of our equity index product, we believe the risk that minimum
guarantees would prevent us from controlling option costs is negligible.

During 2000 and 1999, we purchased financial futures instrum ents and total return exchange agreements as a part of our
asset-liability management activities. The operations of the Company are subject to rizk of interest rate fluctuations to
the extent that there is a difference between the amount of the Company’s interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liabilities that mature in specified periods. The principal objective of the Company’s asset-liability management
activities i to provide maximum levels of net investment income while maintaining acceptable levels of interest rate
and liquidity risk, and facilitating the funding needs of the Company. Financial futures contracts are commitments to
either purchase or sell afinancial instrument at a specific future date for a specified price and may be settled in cash or
through delivery of the financial instrument. Total retum exchange agreements generally involve the exchange of the
total retum or yield on areferenced security for a specified interest rate.

If financial futures contracts used to manage interest rate risk were terminated early or resulted in payments based on
the change in value of the underlying asset, any resulting gain or loss was deferred and amortized as an adjustment to
the yield of the designated asset over its remaining life as the transaction qualified for hedge accounting. The
effectiveness of the hedge was measured by a historical and future high correlation of changes in the fair value of the
hedging instruments with changes in value of the hedged item. If correlation ceased to exist, hedge accounting would
have been terminated and gains or losses recorded in income. During 2000 and 1999, high correlation was achieved.
Deferred gains (losses) totaling ($2,276,000) and $4,970,000 for 2000 and 1999, respectively, are included in held for
investment fixed maturities and will be amortized as an adjustment to interest income over the life of the hedged
instrument.

For total return exchange agreements, the differential of the total retum yield or interest to be paid or received on a
settlement date was recognized as an adjustment to investment income. If a total retum swap agreement was terminated
early any resulting gain or loss wasrecognized as realized gain or logs. In 2000, the Company recognizednet investment
expense of $10,583,000 related to payments made on settlement dates, and realized a gain of $7,177,000 on the
termination of one total retum swap agreement.

The Company didnot purchase or enter into any financial futures instruments or total return exchange agreements during
2001 and all agreements were terminated or matured as of December 31, 2000.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

1o Our Shareholders

Management is responsible for the integrity of the financial information contained in this annual report. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in the
circumstances and have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP. A copy of their audit opinion follows this letter. The financial
information contained elsewhere in this annual report is consistent with that of the financial statements except for information
described as being in accordance with statutory accounting practices.

Certain financial information presented depends on management’s estimates and judgements regarding the ultimate outcome of
transactions, which are not yet complete. Management believes these estimates and judgements are fair and reasonable based upon
available information.

Management maintains a system of internal control designed to meet its responsibilities for preparing reliable financial statements.
The system is designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are properly authorized and
reported. Reasonable assurance is based upon the premise that the cost of controls should not exceed the benefits derived from them.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, meets periodically with management and Ernst & Young LLP to review internal
accounting control, audit activities and financial reporting matters. Ernst & Young LLP have free access to the Audit Committee
with and without the presence of management, to discuss and review the quality of financial reporting.

D.J Noble Wendy Carlson Terry A. Reimer

Chairman and President Chief Financial Officer Executive Vice President &
Chief Accounting Officer

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT

Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
American Equity Investment Life Holding Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of American Equity Investment Life Holding Company as of
December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of American Equity Investment Life Holding Company at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the consolidated results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for derivative
instruments and hedging activities in response to a new accounting standard that became effective January 1, 2001.

Des Moines, lowa
March 8, 2002

émt ¥ LLP
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,

2001 2000
Assets
Cash and investments:
Fixed maturity securities:
Available for sale, at market {amortized cost: 2001 - $3,101,040;
2000 - $1,523,376) 5 2,974,761 $ 1,474,560
Held for investment, at amortized cost (market: 2001 - $412,378;
2000 - $365,023) 454,605 429,280
Equity securities, at market (cost: 2001 - $18,609; 2000 - $7,435) 18,245 6,671
Mortgage loans on real estate 108,181 -
Derivative instruments 40,052 34,707
Policy loans 291 264
Cash and cash equivalents 184,130 175,724
Total cash and investments 3,780,265 2,121,206
Receivable from other insurance companies 83 375
Premiums due and uncollected 1,386 1,256
Accrued investment income 22,100 21,398
Receivables from related parties 29,978 47,242
Property, furniture and equipment, less allowances for depreciation of

$3.150 in 2001 and $2,370 in 2000 1,622 1,032
Value of insurance in force acquired 415 520
Deferred policy acquisition costs 492,757 289,609
Intangibles, less accumulated amortization of $987 in 2001 and $797 in

2000 2,148 2,338
Deferred income tax asset 51,244 36,052
Federal income taxes recoverable 4,224 —
Other assets 2,365 2,913
Assets held in separate account 3,858 4,185
Total assets $ 4,392,445 5 2,528,126
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AMERICAN EQUITY

Consolidated Balance Sheets (cont’d)

INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,

2001 2000
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Policy benefit reserves:

Traditional life and accident and health insurance products $ 25,490 20,354

Annuity and single premium universal life products 3,968,455 2,079,561
Other policy funds and contract claims 22,046 16,669
Amounts due to related party under General Agency Commission

and Servicing Agreement 46,607 76,028
Other amounts due to related parties 22,990 4,000
Notes payable 46,667 44,000
Amount due to reinsurer 14,318 -
Amounts due under repurchase agreements - 110,000
Amounts due on securities purchased 66,504 -
Federal income taxes payable - 50
Other liabilities 32,788 15,124
Liabilities related to separate account 3,858 4,185

Total liabilities 4,249,723 2,369,971
Minority interests in subsidiaries:
Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of
subsidiary trusts 100,155 99,503
Stockholders® equity:
Series Preferred Stock, par value $1 per share, 2,000,000 shares

authorized; 625,000 shares of 1998 Series A Participating Preferred

Stock issued and outstanding 625 625
Common Stock, par value $1 per share, 75,000,000 shares

authorized; issued and outstanding 2001 - 14,516,974 shares;

2000 - 14,530,242 shares 14,517 14,530
Additional paid-in capital 57,452 37,577
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (33,531) (16,876)
Retained earnings 3,504 2,796
Total stockholders’ equity 42,567 58,652
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 4,392,445 $ 2,528,126

See aocompanying notes.
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Consolidated Statements of Income

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Revenues:
Traditional life and accident and health insurance premiums $ 13,141 $ 11,034 $ 10,294
Annuity and single premium universal life product charges 12,520 8,338 3,452
Net investment income 140,374 89,477 64,610
Realized gains on sales of investments 787 5,766 1,454
Unrealized gains on derivatives 13,554 - -
Total revenues 180,376 114,615 79,810
Benefits and expenses:
Insurance policy benefits and change in future policy benefits 9,762 8,728 7,232
Interest credited to account balances 97,923 56,529 41,727
Change in fair value of embedded derivatives 12,921 - -
Interest expense on notes payable 2,881 2,339 896
Interest expense on General Agency Commission and
Servicing Agreement 5,716 5,958 3,861
Interest expense on amounts due under repurchase agreements 1,123 3,267 3,491
Interest expense on amount due to reinsurer 381 - —
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs and value of
insurance in force acquired 23,145 8,806 7.379
Other operating costs and expenses 17,071 14,370 12,129
Total benefits and expenses 170,923 99,997 76,715
Income before income taxes, minority interests and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle 9,453 14,618 3,095
Income tax (expense) benefit (333) (2,385) 1,370
Income before minority interests and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle 9,120 12,233 4,465
Minority interests in subsidiaries:
Earnings attributable to company-obligated mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities of subsidiary trusts {7.449) {7.449) (2,022)
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 1,671 4,784 2,443
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for derivatives (799) - -
Net income 8§72 b 4784 b 2443
Earnings per common share:
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 3 0.10 $ 0.29 $ 0.15
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for derivatives {0.05) — —
Earnings per common share b 0.05 b 0.29 b 0.15
Earnings per common share - assuming dilution:
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 3 0.09 8 0.26 8 0.14
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for derivatives {0.04) — —
Earnings per common share - assuming dilution b 0.05 b 0.26 b 0.14

See accompanying notes
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Accumulated
Additional Other Retained Total
Preferred Common Paid-in Comprehensive Earnings Stockholders’
Stock Stock Capital Income {Loss) (Deficit) Equity

Balance at January 1, 1999 £ 625 % 4,582 % 64,783 § 420 8 @279 % 66,131
Comprehensive loss:

Met income for vear — - — - 2,443 2,443

Change in net unrealized investment gainsilosses - - - (35,6530 - (35.655)
Total comprehensive loss (32,212
Izssuance of 130,348 shares of common

stock, less issuance expenses of $22 — 130 1,382 - - 1,512
Dividends on preferred stock (5.02 per share) - - 13 - - (13
Dividends on common stock (5.01 per share) - - 943 - - (94
Balance at December 31, 1999 625 4,712 66,058 (35,235) (1,836) 34,324
Izssuance of 8 424,620 shares of common stock

pursuant to 3for-1 stock split - 9425 (94253 - - -
Comprehensive income:

Met income for vear — - — - 4784 4784

Change in net unrealized investment gainsilosses - - - 18,359 - 13353
Total comprehensive income 23,143
Izsuance of 477,687 shares of common stock — 478 1,478 - - 1,956
Arcomisition of 34,375 shares of common stock - [£=8)) (534 - - 619
Dividends on preferred stock (5.01 per share) - - - - (&) (&)
Dividends on common stock (5.01 per share) - - - - (148) (1463
Balance at December 31, 2000 625 14,530 57,577 (16,876) 2,796 58,652
Comprehensive loss:

Met income for vear - - - - 272 272

Change in net unrealized investment gainsilosses - - - (16,6530 - (16,655)
Total comprehensive loss (15,783
Issuance of 5,052 shares of common steck - 5 34 - - 39
Arcomisition of 18,320 shares of common stock - (13 129 - - Q)]
Diwvidends on preferred stock (50.01 per share) - - - - (19 (19
Diwvidends on common stock ($0.01 per share) - - - - (145) (145)
Balance at December 31, 2001 i 625 § 14,517 % S7452  F (33531 % 3,504 F 42,567

See accompanying notes.
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Dollars in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Operating activities
Net income 5 872 5 4,784 5 2,443
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for derivatives 799 - -
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in
operating activities:
Adjustments related to interest sensitive products:
Interest credited to account balances 97,923 56,529 41,727
Annuity and single premium universal life product charges {12,520) (8,338) (3,452)
Change in fair value of embedded derivatives 12,921 - -
Increase in traditional life and accident and health insurance
reserves 5,136 5,294 3,743
Policy acquisition costs deferred {154,451) (77.056) (62,829)
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs 23,040 8,574 7,063
Provision for depreciation and other amortization 1,075 1,086 1,299
Amortization of discount and premiums on fixed maturity
securities and derivative instruments 18,250 12,933 (10,765)
Realized gains on sales of investments {787) (5,766) (1,434)
Unrealized gains on derivatives {13,554) - -
Deferred income taxes {5,794) (2,840) (15,559)
Reduction of amounts due to related party under General
Agency Commission and Servicing Agreement {29,422) (14,491) (3,140)
Changes in other operating assets and liabilities:
Accrued investment income {702) (7,215) (11,237)
Receivables from related parties 17,265 (28,346) (18,807)
Federal income taxes recoverable/payable {4,274) 1,713 (3,312)
Other policy funds and contract claims 5,376 5,116 5,238
Other amounts due to related parties 15,927 4,000 -
Other liabilities 4,861 1,221 8,156
Other 309 (1,911) (650)
Net cash used in operating activities {17,750} {44,713) (61,536)
Investing activities
Sales, maturities, or repayments of investments:
Fixed maturity securities - available for sale 1,734,890 628,847 308,670
Equity securities 7,820 1,588 -
Derivative instruments — 7177 1,541
1,742,710 637,612 310,211
Acquisition of investments:
Fixed maturity securities - available for sale (3,214,768) (1,092,492) (734,248)
Fixed maturity securities - held for investment - (7,246) (310,500)
Equity securities {18,844) {1,437) {(8,020)
Mortgage loans (108,181) - -
Derivative instruments {76,569) (68,088) (39,396)
Proceeds received from futures contract - — 4,970
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AMERICAN EQUITY

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (cont’d)

INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

(Dollars in thousands)

Investing activities (continued)
Policy loans

Purchazes of property, fumiture and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Receipts credited to annuity and single premium universal life

policyholder account balances

Unapplied policyholder receipts

Retum of annuity and single premium universal life
policyholder account balances

Financing fees incurred and deferred

Proceeds from notes payable

Repayments of notes payable

Increase (decrease) in amounts due under repurchase
agreements

Proceeds from issuance of company-obligated mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities of subsidiary trusts

Amounts due to reinsurer

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock

Acquisition of common stock

Dividends paid

Net cash provided by financing activities

Increasze (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest on notes payable and repurchase agreements
Income taxes - life subsidiaries

Non-cash financing and investing activities:

Bonus interest deferred as policy acquisition costs

Advances to related party under General Agency
Commission and Servicing Agreement deferred as policy
acquisition costs

Issuance of common stock in payment of deferred
compensation

Exchange of held for investment fixed maturity securities

for company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred

securities of subsidiary trusts
See accompanying notes.

R/ AMERICAN EQUITY 2001 PEOPLE SERVICE

Year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

$ 27 $ (33) $ (39
(3,418,389) (1,169,296) (1,087,233)
{1,370) (424) (877}
(1,677,049) (532,108) (777.899)
2,006,882 843,340 816,126
12,803 - -
(223,163) (144,077) (60,844)
- (216) (1,801)

6,000 23,400 10,600
(3,333) - -
(110,000) 23,031 37,969

- - 25,970

14,318 - -

39 1,956 1,512

(177 (619) -
(164) (152) (107)
1,703,203 746,663 829,425
8,406 169,842 (10,010)
175,724 5,882 15,892

$ 184,130 $ 175724 $ 5882
$ 4,199 $ 5,606 $ 4,904
10,401 3,512 17,500
17,399 9,955 7,602

- 28,400 37,723

- - 90

_ - 72,490
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2001
1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies
Organization

American Equity Investment Life Holding Company (the Company), through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, American
Equity Investment Life Insurance Company and American Equity Investment Life Insurance Company of New York,
is licensed to sell insurance products in 45 states and the District of Columbia at December 31, 2001. The Company
offers abroad array of annuity and insurance products. The Company s business consists primarily of the sale of equity-
index and fixed rate annuities. In 1998, the Company began offering variable annuity products. The Company operates
solely in the life insurance business.

Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries: American
Equity Investment Life Insurance Company, American Equity Investment Life Insurance Company of New Y ork
(formed in 2001), American Equity Investment Capital, Inc., American Equity Capital Trust I (formed in 1999},
American Equity Capital Trust IT (formed in 1999), American Equity of Hawaii, Inc. (formed in 1999 and sold to an
affiliate of the Company’s Chairman in December, 2000 ) and American Equity Investment Properties, L.C. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions are
utilized in the calculation of value of insurance in force acquired, deferred policy acquisition costs, policyholder
liabilities and accruals, valuation of embedded derivatives on equity index reserves, and valuation allowances on deferred
tax assets and investments. It is reasonably possible that actual experience could differ from the estimates and
assumptions utilized.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2000 and 1999 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2001
financial statement presentation.

Investments

Fixed maturity securities (bonds and redeemable preferred stocks maturing more than one year after issuance) that may
be sold prior to maturity are classified as available for sale. Awvailable for sale securities are reported at estimated fair
value and unrealized gains and losses, if any, on these securities are included directly in a separate component of
stockholders” equity, net of income taxes and certain adjustments. Premiums and discounts are amortized/accrued using
methods which result in a constant yield over the securities’ expected lives. Amortization/accrual of premiums and
discounts on mortgage and asset-backed securities incorporate prepayment assumptions to estimate the securities’
expected lives.

Fixed maturity securities that the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held
for investment. Held for investment securities are reported at cost adjusted for amortization of premiums and discounts.
Changes in the market value of these securities, except for declines that are other than temporary, are not reflected in
the Company’s financial statements. Premiums and discounts are amortized/accrued using methods which result in a
constant yield over the securities’ expected lives.
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)

Equity securities, comprised of common and non-redeemable preferred stocks, are reported at market value. Unrealized
gaing and losses are included directly in a separate component of stockholders® equity, net of income taxes.

Mortgage loans on real estate are reported at cost adjusted for amortization of premiums and accrual of discounts. If
the Company determines that the value of any mortgage loan is impaired, the carrying value of the mortgage loan will
be reduced to its fair value, based upon the present value of expected future cash flows from the loan discounted at the
loan’s effective interest rate, or the fair value of the underlying collateral.

Policy loans are reported at unpaid principal.

The carrying amounts of all the Company’s investments are reviewed on an ongoing basis for credit deterioration. If
this review indicates a decline in market value that is other than temporary, the Company’s carrying amount in the
investment is reduced to its estimated fair value and a specific writedown is taken. Such reductions in carrying amount
arerecognized as realized losses and charged to income. Realized gains and losses on sales are determined on the basis
of specific identification of investments.

Market values, as reported herein, of fixed maturity and equity securities are based on the latest quoted market prices,
or for those fixed maturity securities not readily marketable, at values which are representative of the market values of
issues of comparable yield and quality.

Derivative Instruments

The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued, then subsequently amended, Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS™YNo. 133, Accounting for Derivative hstruments and Hedging Activities, which became effective
for the Company on January 1, 2001. Under SFAS No. 133, as amended, all derivative instruments (including certain
derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) are recognized in the balance sheet at their fair values and changes
in fair value are recognized immediately in eamings, unless the derivatives qualify as hedges of future cash flows. For
derivatives qualifying as hedges of future cash flows, the effective portion of the changes in fair value is recorded
temporarily in equity, then recognized in earnings along with the related effects of the hedged items. Any “ineffective™
portion of a hedge is reported in earnings as it occurs.

The Company has equity-indexed annuity products that guarantee the return of principal to the customer and credit
interest based on a percentage of the gain in a specified equity market index. A portion of the premium from each
customer iz invested in investment grade fixed income securities to cover the minimum guaranteed value due the
customer at the end of the contract term. A portion of the premium is used to purchase derivatives consisting of call
options on the applicable equity market indexes to fund the index credits due to equity index annuity holders.
Substantially all of such call options are one year options which are closely matched to the annual crediting liabilities
on such policies. The cost of these options are amortized in full overtheir one-year lives which is included in investment
income. On the respective anniversary dates of the equity index policies, the equity index used to compute such annual
crediting liabilities is reset and the Company purchases new one-year call options to fund the next annual index credit.
The Company manages the cost of these purchases through the terms of its equity index annuities, which permits the
Company to change annual participation rates, asset fees, and/or caps, subject to guaranteed minimums. By reducing
participation rates, asset fees or caps, the Company can limit option costs to budgeted amounts except in cases where
the minimum guarantees prevent further reductions in these contract terms.

The Company’s strategy attempts to mitigate any potential risk of loss under these agreements through a regular
monitoring process which evaluates the program’s effectiveness. The Company is exposed to risk of loss in the event
of nonperformance by the counterparties and, accordingly, the Company purchases its option contracts from multiple
counterparties and evaluates the creditworthiness of all counterparties prior to purchase of the contracts. At December
31, 2001, all of these options had been purchased from nationally recognized investment banking institutions with a
Standard and Poor’s credit rating of BBB+ or higher.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)
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Under SFAS No. 133, the annual crediting liabilities on the Company’s equity index annuities are treated as a “‘series
of embedded derivatives” over the life of the applicable contract. The Company does not purchase call options to fund
the equity index liabilities which may arise after the next policy anniversary date. The Company must value both the
call options and the related forward embedded options in the policies at fair value. The change in fair value for the call
options is included in unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives and the change in fair value adjustment of the embedded
options is included in change in fair value of embedded derivatives in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Forthe vear ended December 31, 2001, unrealized gains on derivatives of $13,554,000 represent the change in fair value
on call options used to fund the next-year income credit to the equity index annuities. The change in fair value of options
embedded within the equity index products (including the forward options) was $12,921,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2001. Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs was decreased by $846,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2001 as aresult of the impact of SFAS No. 133.

At January 1, 2001, the Company’s financial statements were adjusted to record a cumulative effect of adopting this
accounting change, as follows (in thousands):

Fair value adjustment related to:

Call options $  (14,537)

Equity index annuity liabilities 11,736
Adjustments for assumed changes in amortization of

deferred policy acquisition costs 1,571
Deferred income tax benefit 431
Total $ (799)

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 133, the Company recorded the options at amortized cost plus intrinzic value, if any.
Changes in the intringic value of the options were offzet by changes to the policy benefit liabilities in the consolidated
statements of income. These amounts were ($21,664,000) and $12,763,000 during the years ended December 31, 2000
and 1999, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments
purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

To the extent recoverable from future policy revenues and gross profits, certain costs of producing new business,
principally commissions, first-year bonus interest and certain costs of policy issuance (including policy issue costs of
$4,946,000 in 2001, $2,743,000 in 2000 and $3,591,000 in 1999) have been deferred. For annuity and single premium
universal life products, these costs are being amortized generally in proportion to expected gross profits from surrender
charges and investment, mortality, and expense marging. That amortization is adjusted retrospectively when estimates
of future gross profits/margins (including the impact of realized investment gains and losses) to berealized from a group
of products are revised. Deferred policy acquisition costs are also adjusted for the change in amortization that would
have occurred if available-for-sale fixed maturity securities had been sold at their aggregate market value and the
proceeds reinvested at current yield. The impact of this adjustment is included in accumulated other comprehensive
income {losz) within stockholders’ equity.

For traditional life and accident and health insurance, deferred policy acquisition costs are being amortized over the
premium-paying period of the related policies in proportion to premium revenuesrecognized, principally using the same
assumptions for interest, mortality and withdrawals that are used for computing liabilities for future policy benefits
subject to traditional “lock-in" concepts.
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)

Value of Insurance In Force Acquired

The value of insurance in force acquired represents the actuarially determined present value of the projected future cash
flows from the insurance contracts that were acquired pursuant to two reinsurance agreements. This balance is
amortized, evaluated for recovery and adjusted for the impact of unrealized gains and losses in the same manner as
deferred policy acquisition costs described above. Interest accrues on the unamortized balance at a rate of 6%o.

Intangibles

Intangibles consist of deferred debt and trust preferred security issue costs andthe excess of the purchase price paid over
the fair value of the net assets acquired (goodwill) in connection with the purchase of an inactive life insurance company
in 1996. Deferred issue costs are being amortized over the life of the related agreement using the interest method.
Goodwill iz being amortized over 10 years using the straight-line method.

Property, Furniture and Equipment

Property, furniture and equipment, comprised primarily of office furniture and equipment, data processing equipment
and capitalized software costs, are reported at cost less allowances for depreciation. Depreciation expense is determined
primarily using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Separate Accounts

The separate account assets and liabilities represent funds that are separately administered for the benefit of variable
annuity policyholders who bear the underlying investment risk. The separate account assets and liabilities are carried
at fair value. Revenues and expenses related to the separate account assets and liabilities, to the extent of premiums
received from and benefits paid or provided to the separate account policyholders, are excluded from the amounts
reported in the consolidated statements of income. The Company receives various fees {(mortality, expense and surrender
charges assessed against policyholder account balances)that are included asrevenues in the consolidated statements of
income.

Future Policy Benefits

Future policy benefitreserves for annuity and single premium universal life products are computed under aretrospective
deposit method and represent policy account balances before applicable surrender charges. Policy benefits and claims
that are charged to expense include benefit claims incurred in the period in excess of related policy account balances.
Interest crediting rates for these products ranged from 3.0% to 12.0% in 2001, 3.0% to 12.5% in 2000 and from 3.0%
to 12.0% in 1999. A portion of this amount ($17,399,000, $9,955,000 and $7,602,000 during the years ended
December31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively) represents an additional interest credit on first-year premiums payable
until the first contract anniversary date (first-year bonus interest). Such amounts have been offset against interest
credited to account balances and deferred as policy acquisitions costs.

The liability for future policy benefits for traditional life insurance is based on net level premium reserves, including
assumptions as to interest, mortality, and other assumptions underlying the guaranteed policy cash values. Reserve
interest assumptions are level and range from 3.0% to 6.0%. The liabilities for future policy benefits for accident and
health insurance are computed using a net level premium method, including assumptions as to morbidity and other
assumptions based on the Company’s experience, modified as necessary to give effect to anticipated trends and to
include provisions for possible unfavorable deviations. Policy benefit claims are charged to expense in the period that
the claims are incurred.

Unpaid claims include amounts for losses and related adjustment expenses and are determined using individual claim
evaluations and statistical analysis. Unpaid claims represent estimates of the ultimate net costs of all losses, reported
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)

and unreported, which remain unpaid at December 31 of each year. These estimates are necessarily subject to the impact
of future changes in claim severity, frequency and other factors. In spite of the variability inherent in such situations,
management believes that the unpaid claim amounts are adequate. The estimates are continuously reviewed and as
adjustments to these amounts become necessary, such adjustments are reflected in current operations.

Certain group policies include provisions for annual experience refunds of premiums equal to net premiums received
less a 16% administrative fee and less claims incurred. Such amounts (2001 - $584,000; 2000 - $342,000; and 1999 -
$1,206,000)are reported as areduction oftraditional life and accident and health insurance premiums in the consolidated
statements of income.

Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets or liabilities are computed based onthe temporary differences between the financial statement
and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using the enacted marginal tax rate. Deferred income tax expenses or
credits are based on the changes in the asset or liability from period to period. Deferred income tax assets are subject
to ongoing evaluation of whether such assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets
depends on generating future taxable income during the periods in which temporary differences become deductible. If
future income iz not generated as expected, deferred income tax assets may need to be written off.

Stockholders® Equity

The Company effected athree-for-one split of common stock payable June 30, 2000 to stockholders of record as of June
1, 2000. This resulted in the issuance of 9,424,620 shares of common stock along with a corresponding decrease of
$9,425,000 in additional paid-in capital. All references to the number of shares and per share amounts (other than the
1999 consolidated statements of changes in stockholders” equity) in the consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise noted, have been adjusted to reflect the split
on aretroactive basis. Previously awarded stock options, restricted stock awards, and all other agreements payable in
the Company’s common stock have been adjusted or amended to reflect the split.

During 2000, the Company increased the number of anthorized shares of common stock, $1 par value, from 25,000,000
to 75,000,000. In connection with the issuance of the Company’s common stock under certain private placement
offerings, the Company issued warrants to purchase one additional share of common stock for every five shares that were
purchased. In addition, warrants to purchase 240,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were issued in 1997 to
the Company’s chairman. During 2000, these warrants were exercised at a price of $3.33 per share, and 170,625
warrants were exercised at a price of $4.00 per share. During 1999, 342,249 warrants were exercised at aprice of $4.00.
At December 31, 2001, the Company had warrants for 34,125 shares outstanding with an exercise price of $4.00 per
share. All of the outstanding warrants expire on April 30, 2002,

The Company issued 625,000 shares of 1998 Series A Participating Preferred Stock, at par, under a private placement
offering in 1998 in exchange for cash of $10,000,000. These shares have participating dividend rights with shares of
the Company’s common stock, when and as such dividends are declared. These shares are convertible into shares of
the Company’s common stock on athree-for-one basis and have no voting rights.

Recognition of Premium Revenues and Costs
Revenues for annuity and single premium universal life products consist of surrender charges assessed against
policyholder account balances and mortality and expense charges (single premium universal life products only) during

the period. Expenses related to these products include interest credited to policyholder account balances and benefit
claims incurred in excess of policyholder account balances (single premium universal life products only).

o 37 AMERICAN EQUITY 2001 PEOPLE SERVICE FUTURE WE’RE THE ONE! \i}

b ..



AMERICAN EQUITY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)

INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Traditional life and accident and health insurance premiumsare recognized as revenues overthe premium-paying period.
Future policy benefits and policy acquisition costs are recognized as expenses over the life of the policy by means of
the provision for future policy benefits and amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs.

All insurance-related revenues, benefits, losses and expenses are reported net of reinsurance ceded.

Premiums and Deposits by Product Type

The Company markets equity index annuities, fixed rate annuities, a variable annuity and life insurance. In connection
with its reinsured group life business, the Company also collects renewal premiums on certain accident and health
insurance policies. Premiums and deposits (after cancellations and net of reinsurance) collected in 2001, 2000 and 1999,

by product category were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

Product Type 2001 2000 1999
{Dollars in thousands)

Equity-Index Annuities b 588,124 b 633,893 b 551,278

Fixed Rate Annuities 1,418,758 209,447 264,848

Life Insurance 12349 10,169 10,025

Accident and Health 792 865 269

Variable Annuities 15 3,895 219
$ 2,020,038 $ 858,269 $ 826,639

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes all changes in stockholders® equity during a period except those resulting from
investments by and distributions to stockholders. Other comprehensive income (loss) excludes net realized investment
gaing included in net income which merely represent transfers from unrealized to realized gains and losses. These
amounts totaled $3935,000, $4,239,000 and $983,000 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Such amounts, which have
been measured through the date of sale, are net of adjustments to deferred policy acquisition costs and income taxes
totaling $392,000 in 2001, $1,527,000 in 2000 and $471,000 in 1999.

Pending Accounting Change

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations and SFAS No.
142, Goadwill and other Intangible Assets. Under the new Statements, goodwill will no longer be amortized but will
be subject to annual impairment tests. Intangible assets with finite useful lives will continue to be amortized over their

estimated useful lives. The adoption of these Statements on January 1, 2002 is not expected to have a material impact
to the Company.

2. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating the fair values of financial instruments:

Fixed maturity securities: Quoted market prices, when available, or price matrices for securities which are not actively
traded, developed using yield data and other factors relating to instruments or securities with similar characteristics.
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)

Equity securities: Quoted market prices.

Morteage loans on real estate: Discounted expected cash flows using interest rates currently being offered for similar
loans.

Derivative instruments: Quoted market prices from related counterparties.

Policy loans: The Company has not attempted to determine the fair values associated with its policy loans, as
management believes any differences between the Company’s carrying value and the fair values afforded these
instruments are immaterial to the Company’s financial position and, accordingly, the cost to provide such disclosure is
not worth the benefit to be derived.

Cash and cash equivalents: Amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for these instruments approximate their
fair values.

Separate account assets and liabilities: Reported at estimated fair value in the consolidated balance sheets.

Annuity and single premium universal life policy benefit reserves: Fair values of the Company’s liabilities under
contracts not involving significant mortality or morbidity risks {principally deferred annuities), are stated at the cost the
Company would incur to extinguish the liability (i.e., the cash surrender value) adjusted as required under SFAS No.
133. The Company is not required to and has not estimated the fair value of its liabilities under other contracts.

Nates payable and amounts due under repurchase agreements: As all notes and short-term indebtedness under
repurchase agreements have variable interest rates, the amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for these
instruments approximate their fair values.

Amounts due to related party under General Agency Commission and Servicing Agreement and company-obligated

mandatarily redeemable preferred securities of subsidiary trusts: Fair values are estimated by discounting expected cash
flows using interest rates currently being offered for similar securities.
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)

The following sets forth a comparison of the fair values and carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments:

December 31,
2001 2000
C a_rrying Estimated C a_rrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
{Dollars in thousands)
Assets
Fixed maturity securities:
Available for sale $ 2974761 $ 2974761 $ 1474,560 $  1.474,560
Held for investment 454,605 412378 429280 365,023
Equity securities 18,245 18,245 6,671 6,671
Mortgage loans on real estate 108,181 109,806 - -
Derivative instruments 40,052 40,052 34,707 20,170
Policy loans 291 291 264 264
Cash and cash equivalents 184,130 184,130 175,724 175,724
Separate account assets 3,858 3,858 4,185 4,185
Liabilities
Annuity and single premium
universal life policy benefit reserves 3,968,455 3,498,954 2,079,561 1,794,414
Amounts due to related party under
General Ageney Commission and
Servicing Agreement 46,607 49,600 76,028 77319
Notes payable 46,667 46,667 44,000 44,000
Amounts due under repurchase
agreements - — 110,000 110,000
Liabilities related to separate account 3,858 3,858 4,185 4,185
Company-obligated mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities
of subsidiary trusts 100,133 104,962 99,503 96,924
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)

3. Investm ents

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the amortized cost and estimated fair value of fixed maturity securities and equity
securities were as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
December 31, 2001 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
{Dollars in thousands)
Fixed maturity securities:
Available for sale:
United States Government and agencies $ 1770,024 5§ 3,080 § (64,631) § 1,708,473
State, municipal and other governments 5,234 - (135) 5,099
Public utilities 39,315 525 (1,368) 38,472
Corporate securities 495 971 4813 (27,228) 473,556
Redeemable preferred stocks 15,704 1,539 (188) 17,055
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 774,792 2,534 (45,220) 732,106

$ 3,101,040 $ 12,491 §__ (138,770) § 2,974,761

Held for investment:
United States Government and agencies $ 379,011 $ - 3 45210) $ 333,801
Redeemable preferred stocks 75,594 2983 - 78,577

e

Equity securities:
Non-redeemable preferred stocks $ 15418 §$ 18 3 (130) % 15306
Common stocks 3,191 — (252) 2939

e e
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AMERICAN EQUITY INVESTMENT LIFE HOLDING COMPANY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
December 31, 2000 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
{Dollars in thousands)
Fixed maturity securities:
Available for sale:
United States Government and agencies $ 1052193 5§ 10,166 § (24,208) § 1,038,151
State, municipal and other governments 4,874 10 - 4,884
Public utilities 12,191 - (991) 11,200
Corporate securities 327,954 218 (33.071) 295,801
Redeemable preferred stocks 9,240 - (725) 8,515
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 116,924 1,393 (2,308) 116,009

$ 1523376 $ 12,487 §__ (61,303) $  1474,560

Held for investment:
United States Government and agencies $ 353,808 - 3 (60497 § 293311
Redeemable preferred stocks 75472 — (3,760) 71,712

Equity securities:
Non-redeemable preferred stocks $ 6,830 - % (1,005) % 5,845
Common stocks 585 241 826

The amortized cost and estim ated fair value of fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2001, by contractual maturity,
are shown below. Actual maturities will differ from contractual maturities becanse borrowers may have the right to call
or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. All ofthe Company’s mortgage-backed and asget-
backed securities provide for periodic payments throughout their lives, and are shown below as a separate line.

Avwailable for sale Held for investment
Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated
Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
{Dollars in thousands)

Duec after one year through five years ¥ 21007 0§ 21187 3 - 3 -
Due after five years through ten years 190,366 189467 - -
Due after ten years through twenty years 341,080 518,793 - -
Due after twenty years 1,573,703 1,513,208 454,603 412,378
2,326,248 2,242,655 454,605 412,378

Mortgage-backed and asset-backed
securities 774,792 732,106 - -
$ 3,101,040 $ 2974761 $ 454605 § 412378
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Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale fixed maturity securities and equity securities reported as a separate
component of stockholders’ equity were comprised of the following at December 31, 2001 and 2000:

December 31,
2001 2000
{Dollars in thousands)

Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale fixed maturity

securities and equity securities $  (126.643) §$ (49,580)
Adjustments for assumed changes in amortization of
deferred policy acquisition costs 75,057 23616
Deferred income tax benefit 18,035 9,088
Net unrealized losses reported as aceumulated other
comprehensive loss 3 (33,531) § (16.876)
Components of net investment income are as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
{Dollars in thousands)
Fixed maturity securities $ 196933 § 129066 § 69877
Equity securities 786 754 456
Mortgage loans on real estate 2347 - -
Derivative instruments (68,712) (42,745) 6,151)
Poliey loans 20 19 20
Cash and cash equivalents 12,281 1,703 487
Other (1,137) 2,083 951
142,518 90,880 65,640
Less investment expenses (2,144) (1,403) (1,030)
Net investment income $ 140374 § 89477 $ 64,610
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An analysis of sales, maturities, and principal repayments of the Company’s available-for-sale fixed maturity securities
forthe year ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 is as follows:

Gross Gross Proceeds
Amortized Realized Realized from
Cost Gains Losses Sale
{Dollars in thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2001
Schedule d principal repayments,
calls and tenders $  1,130959 % - $ - 5 1,130,959
Sales 595,550 12,820 {4,439) 603931
Total $ 1726509 $ 12820 § 4,439) $ 1734890
Year ended December 31, 2000
Scheduled prineipal repayments,
calls and tenders $ 622353 % - 3 - 3 622353
Sales 7471 - ©77) 6,494
Total 3 629,824 § — 3 977 § 628,847
Year ended December31, 1990
Schedule d prineipal repayments,
calls and tenders $ 195838 § - § - 3 195,838
Sales 112919 323 (410) 112,832

Total $ 308,757 % 323 $ 4100 % 308,670

For the year ended December 31, 2001, realized gains on investments consisted of net gains of $8,381,000 on the sale
of available-for-sale fixed maturity securities, net gains of $179,000 on the sale of equity securities and write downs of
$7,773,000 on certain securities due to other than temporary impairments. For the year ended December 31, 2000,
realized gains on investments consisted of net losses of $977,000 on the sale of available-for-sale fixed maturity
securities, net losses of $434,000 on the sale of equity securities and a gain of $7,177,000 on the termination of a total
return swap. For the year ended December 31, 1999, realized gains on investments consisted of net losses of $87,000
on the sale of available-for-sale fixed maturities and a gain of $1,541,000 on the termination of a total retum swap.

The change in unrealized depreciation on investments for the year ended December 31, 2001 aggregated $77,063,000,
and consisted of unrealized depreciation of $77,463,000 on available-for-sale fixed maturity securities and unrealized
appreciation on equity securities of $400,000. The change in unrealized depreciation on investments forthe year ended
December 31, 2000 aggregated $24,272,000, and consisted of unrealized appreciation of $24,629,000 on available-for-
sale fixed maturity securities and unrealized depreciation on equity securities of $357,000, respectively. The change
in unrealized depreciation on investments for the year ended December 31, 1999 aggregated $75,449,000, and consisted
of unrealized depreciation on available-for-sale fixed maturity securities and equity securities of $75,043,000 and
$406,000,respectively. The change in net unrealized appreciation/depreciation isrecorded net of adjustments to deferred
policy acquisition costs and deferred income taxes totaling $60,408,000 in 2001, $(5,913,000) in 2000 and $39,794,000
in 1999.

The Company’s mortgage loan portfolio totaled $108,181,000 with commitments outstanding of $15,265,000 at
December 31, 2001 and consisted of commercial mortgage loans diversified as to property type, location and loan size.
The loans are collateralized by the related properties. The Company’smortgage lending policies establish limits on the
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amount that can be loaned to one borrower and require diversification by geographic location and collateral type. At
December 31, 2001, the commercial mortgage loan portfolio is diversified by geographic region and specific collateral
property type as follows:

December 31, 2001
Carrying Amount Percent
{Dollars in thousands)

Geographic distribution

East North Central b 9,189 8.5%
East South Central 16,029 14.8%
Middle Atlantic 18,352 17.0%
New England 3,496 3.2%
South Atlantic 39,260 36.3%
West North Central 21,835 20.2%
Total 3 108.181 100.0% _

December 31, 2001

Carrying Amount Percent
(Dollars in thousands)

Property type distribution
Office $ 42,059 38.9%
Retail 19,131 17.7%
Industrial 28,609 26.4%
Hotel 13,135 12.1%
Mixed use/other 5,247 4.9%

Total $ 108,181 100.0%

During 2000 and 1999, the Company purchased financial futures instruments and total retum exchange agreements as
a part of its asset-liability management activities. The operations of the Company are subject to risk of interest rate
fluctuations to the extent that there is a difference between the amount of the Company’s interest-earning assets and
interest-bearing liabilities that mature in specified periods. The principal objective of the Company’s asset-liability
management activities is to provide maximum levels of net investment income while maintaining acceptable levels of
interest rate and liquidity risk, and facilitating the funding needs of the Company. Financial futures contracts are
commitments to either purchase or sell a financial instrument at a specific future date for aspecified price and may be
settled in cash or through delivery of the financial instrument. Total retum exchange agreements generally involve the
exchange of the total return or yield on a referenced security for a specified interest rate.

If a financial futures contract used to manage interest rate risk was terminated early or resulted in payments based on
the change in value of the underlying asset, any resulting gain or loss was deferred and amortized as an adjustment to
the yield of the designated asset over its remaining life as long as the transaction qualifies for hedge accounting. The
effectiveness of the hedge was measured by ahistorical and probable future high correlation of changes in the fair value
of the hedging instruments with changes in value of the hedged item. If correlation ceased to exist, hedge accounting
would have been terminated and gains or losses recorded in income. During 2000 and 1999, high correlation was
achieved. Deferred losses of $2,276,000 for 2000 and deferred gains of $4,970,000 for 1999 are included in held-for-
investment fixed maturities and will be amortized as an adjustment to interest income over the life of the hedged
instrument.

For total returmn exchange agreements, the differential of the total retumn yield or interest to be paid or received on a
settlement date was recognized as an adjustment to net investment income. If a total return swap agreement was
terminated early, any resulting gain or loss was recognized as a realized gain or loss. In 2000, the Company recognized
net investment expense of $10,583,000 related to payments made on settlement dates, and realized a gain of $7,177,000
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on the termination of one total return swap agreement. In 1999, the Company recognized net investment expense of
$2,069,000 related to payments made on settlement dates, and realized a gain of $1,541,000 on the termination of one
total return swap agreement.

The Company didnot purchase or enter into any financial futures instruments or total refurn exchange agreements during
2001 and all agreements were terminated or matured as of December 31, 2000.

At December 31, 2001, fixed maturity securities and short-term investments with an amortized cost of $3,754,014,000
were on deposit with state agencies to meet regulatory requirements.

At December 31, 2001, the following investments in any person or itz affiliates (other than bonds issued by agencies of the
United States Government) exceeded 10% of stockholders” equity:

Estimated Estimated
Fair Value Fair Value
and Carrying Amortized and Carrying Amortized
Issuer Amount Cost Issuer Amount Cost
(Dollars in thousands) (Dollars in thousands)
FBL Capital Trust I $ 78,577 § 75,594 Sutter CBO 1999-1 $ 10,218 § 8,832
Knight Funding Ltd 16,005 19,755 Public Storage Inc. 8,386 8,368
AIG Global 11,020 19,000 Countrywide Credit 8,018 8,367
Ford Motor Co. 16,829 17,980 Evaluated Loan Collateral 7.286 8,361
Pegasus Aviation Lease Securities 14,350 17,961 Puget Energy Inc 7451 8,327
Bankamerica 15,073 17,133  Land O Lakes 4,779 8,077
General Motors Aceeptance Corp. 14,868 15,117 Commercial Net Lease 7.524 7.756
JP Morgan & Co. 13,486 13,860 EQP Operating LP 6,762 7,082
ERAC USA Finance Company 12,918 12,778 PNC Financial Services 6,983 7,056
Fleetboston Financial Corp. 12,593 12,749 CNA Financial Group 5,200 6,996
CVS Corp. 12,606 12,637  United Airlines 4,513 6,600
MM Community Funding 12,500 12474 Security Capital Group 6,004 6,061
Lehman Brothers Holdings 9,273 12,171 Nationwide Health Properties 6,243 6,043
Metlife Inec. 11,220 11,604 Hilton Hotels 3,562 3,906
New Plan Realty Trust 10,364 11,017 Engelhard Corp. 5,282 5,899
Sears Roebuck & Co. 11,566 10,599 American Coin Merchandising 7.285 5,849
Mony Group, Ine. 10,580 10,562 Farmers Exchange 4,969 5,805
Marshall & Isley Corp. 9,688 10,379 Charles Schwab & Co. Ine. 4,566 5,322
Transamerica 10,174 10,369 Duetsche Bank 5,068 5,296
Wachovia Corp. 10,058 10,238 Keyeorp 4,813 5,246
Potash Corp. 10,590 10,236 Muni Bond Backed Receipts 5,099 5,234
Nationwide Csn Trust 10,350 10,235 United Dominion Realty 5,230 5,127
Universal Corp. 10,247 10,181 Calpine Canada Energy 4,500 3,027
Waddell & Reed Financial 10,249 10,174 Developers Diversified Realty 4,226 5,012
Westvaco Corp. 10,112 10,166 Simon Debartolo Group 4,658 5,005
Allete 10,336 10,135 Dayton Power & Light 4,951 5,000
Continental Airlines 9,170 10,067 Juniper CBO 4,964 5,000
TS Bancorp 10,200 10,000 Municipal Cotrections Finance 5,050 5,000
AT&T Corporation 10,285 9,986 Unumprovident Corp. 5,189 4,996
PSEG Power 10,476 9952  ToysRUs 4,887 4,988
Household Finance 9,908 9,864 Orange & Rockland Utilities 4,777 4,964
Qwest Capital Funding 10,024 9,837 Harcourt General Inec. 4,803 4,945
South Sireet CBO 5,772 9,737  AMB Property 4,400 4,898
Northwest Airlines 8,392 9,547 Xerox Cap Europe 4,550 4,713
Ryder System Inc. 9,739 9,539 Witco Corp. 4,017 4,707
National Oilwell Ine. 9,780 9,535 Citicorp Capital I 4,246 4,304
American Finaneial Group Ine. 8,413 9,381
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4. Value of Insurance In Force Acquired

An analysis of the value of insurance in force acquired for the vears ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
{Dollars in thousands)
Balance at beginning of year $ 520 $ 752 $ 1,069
Accretion of interest during the vear 28 36 55
Amortization of asset (133) (268) (372)
Balance at end of year $ 415 $ 520 $ 752

Amortization of the value of insurance in force acquired for the next four years is expected to be as follows: 2002 —
$104,000; 2003 — $103,000; 2004 — $104,000; and 2005 - $104,000.

5. Reinsurance and Policy Provisions

In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to limit its exposure to loss on any single insured and to recover
aportion of benefits paid by ceding reinsurance to other insurance enterprises or reinsurers. Reinsurance coverages for
life insurance vary according to the age and risk classification of the insured.

Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the Company of its obligations to its policyholders. To the extent that reinsuring
companies are later unable to meet obligations under reinsurance agreements, the Company’s life insurance subsidiaries
would be liable for these obligations, and payment of these obligations could result in losses to the Company. To limit
the possibility of such losses, the Company evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers, and monitors
concentrations of credit risk. Insurance premiums have been reduced by $167,000, $182,000 and $1,111,000 and
insurance benefits have beenreduced by $186,000, $376,000 and $336,000 during the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively, as a result of ceszion agreements.

No allowance for uncollectible amounts has been established against the Company’s asset for amounts receivable from
other insurance companies since none of the receivables are deemed by management to be uncollectible.

Eftfective January 1, 2001, the Company’s life insurance subgidiary, American Equity Investment Life Insurance
Company {American Equity Life), entered into a transaction treated as reinsurance under statutory accounting
requirements and as financial reinsurance under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP)
with a subgidiary of Swiss Reinsurance Company (“Swiss Re”) which includes a coinsurance segment on a 2% quota
share bagis and a yearly renewable term segment reinsuring a portion of death benefits payable on annuities produced
after January 1, 2001 through approximately July 31, 2001. The 2% quota share coinsurance segment provides
reinsurance to the extent of 2% of all risks associated with the Company’s annuity policies covered by this reinsurance
agreement. The Company received a 2% expense allowance for this segment which iz being repaid over a five-year
period from the profits emerging from the reinsured block of policies. This segment of the reinsurance agreement
provided $20 million in statutory surplus benefit during 2001.

The second segment is yearly renewable term reinsurance whereby Swiss Re’s subsidiary reinsures risks aszsociated with
the death benefitz on the Company’s annuity products to the extent such benefits exceed the cash surrender values of
the applicable contracts. The Company has received the maximum expense allowance allowable under this agreement
of $15 million during 2001 which was equal to 2.25% to 3% of the first year premiums on annuities issued after January
2001 through approximately July 31, 2001. The balance at December 31, 2001 was $14,318,000 to be repaid ratably
over a five-year period.
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Effective August 1, 2001, American Equity Life entered into a coinsurance agreement with Equitrust Life Insurance
Company (“Equitrust™), an affiliate of Farm Burean Life Insurance Company covering 70% of certain of the Company’s
non multi-year guarantee fixed annuities and equity-index annuities issued from August 1, 2001 through December 31,
2001 and 40% of those contracts for 2002 and 2003. As of December 31, 2001, Farm Bureau beneficially owned 32.29%
of the Company’s common stock. The Company holdsthe call options used to fundthe index credits related to the ceded
equity index annuities on its books and passes on to Equitrust its proportionate share of the fair value of the call options
as an amount due to reinsurer, amortization expense of the options and changes in fair value of the embedded derivatives.
Total premiums ceded were approximately $418,300,000 and expense allowance received was approximately
$51,200,000 under this agreement for the period August 1, 2001 to December 31, 2001. The balance due at December
31, 2001 under this agreement to Equitrust was $22,879,000.

During 1998, the Company entered into a modified coinsurance agreement to cede 70% of its variable annuity business
to Equitrust. Under this agreement, the Company paid Equitrust $209,000, $118,000 and $120,000 forthe years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The modified coinsurance agreement has an initial term of four years
and will continue thereafter until termination by written notice at the election of either party. Any such termination will
apply to the submission or acceptance of new policies, and business reinsured under the agreement prior to any such
termination is not eligible for recapture before the expiration of 10 years. Equitrust (or one of its affiliates) provides the
administrative support necessary to manage this business.

The activity in the liability for unpaid claims and related adjustment expense for the Company’s accident and health
business for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, net of reinsurance, is summarized as follows:

Unpaid Unpaid
Claims Claims
Liability at Liability at
Beginning of Claims Claims End of
Year Incurred Paid Year

{Dollars in thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2001

2001 b - B 914 % 447 % 467
2000 and prior 916 {23) 162 731
916 5 891 $ 609 1,198
Active life reserve 1,600 1,543
Total accident and health rezserves b 23516 £ 2741
Year ended December 31, 2000
2000 b - % 696 % 339 % 357
1999 and prior 595 88 124 559
595 % 784 B 463 916
Active life reserve 1,576 1,600
Total accident and health reserves b} 2,171 5 2,516

Year ended December 31, 1999

1999 5 - 8 551 b 319 % 232
1998 and prior 673 (186) 124 363

673 % 365 5 443 595
Active life reserve 1,518 - 1,576
Total accident and health reserves b 2,191 b 2,171

<
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The Company develops reserves forunpaid claims by using industry mortality and morbidity data. One year development
on prior year reserves represents the Company’s experience being more or less favorable than that of the industry. Over
time, the Company expects its experience with respect to this business to be comparable to that of the industry. A certain
level of volatility in development is inherent in these reserves since the underlying block of business is relatively small.

6. Income Taxes

The Company files a consolidated federal income tax retum with all its subsidiaries except American Equity Investment
Life Insurance Company and American Equity Investment Life Insurance Company of New Y ork, which file a separate

consolidated federal income tax return.

Deferred income taxes are established by the Company and its subsidiaries based upon the temporary differences among
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities within each entity, the reversal of which will result in taxable or
deductible amounts in future years when the related asset or liability is recovered or settled, measured using the enacted

tax rates.
The Company’s income tax (expense) benefit is as follows:

For the year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
{Dollars in thousands)

Current income taxes 8 (6,127) § (5,225) % (14,189)
Deferred income taxes 5,794 2,840 15,559

Total income tax (expense) benefit 3 (333) 3 (2.385) § 1.370

Income tax benefit {(expense) ditfered from that computed at the applicable statutory federal income tax rate (35%) as

follows.

Year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
{Dollars in thousands)

Income before income taxes, minority interests

and cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle $ 9,453 $ 14,618 § 3,095

Income tax benefit {(expense) on income before
income taxes, minority interests and
cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle at statutory rate b (3,309) b (5,116) b (1,083)
Tax effect of:
Earnings attributable to company-obligated
mandatorily redeemable preferred securities

of subsidiary trusts 2,607 2,607 708
State income taxes 201 151 61
Change in valuation allowance on deferred

income tax assets - - 1,537
Dividends received deduction 100 - -
Other 68 27 147

Income tax benefit (expense) b (333) b (2,385) b 1,370
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The tax effect of individual temporary differences at December 31, 2001 and 2000, is as follows:

December 31,
2001 2000
{Dollars in thousands)

Deferred income tax assets:

Policy benefit reserves 3 143,648 § 90,792
Unrealized depreciation on available-for-sale fixed
maturity securities and equity securities 18,0355 9,088
Deferred compensation 408 408
Net operating loss carryforwards 4,586 2,954
Net capital loss carryforward 5,614 9,953
Amounts due to reinsurers 4,773 -
Other 298 397
177,382 113,592
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Accrued discount on fixed maturity securities (10,348) (13,747)
Deferred policy acquisition costs (115,339) (63,303)
Value of insurance in force acquired (143) (182)
Other (286) (308)
(126,138) (77,540)
Deferred income tax asset 3 51,244 & 36,052

The Company regularly reviews its need for a valuation allowance against its deferred income tax assets. AtDecember
31,1998, the Company carried avaluation allowance against deferred incom e tax assets of the non-life insurance entities
due to the uncertainty of future income. However, thiz valuation allowance was eliminated at December 31, 1999 as
aresult of the Company’s adoption of plans and policies relative to future taxable income or loss of the non-lite entities.
In addition, the Company has adopted plans and policies related to the net capital loss carryforward created in 1999.

At December 31, 2001, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes of $11,465,000 which expire
in 2010 through 2016, and net capital loss carryforwards for tax purposes of $16,041,000 which expire in 2004.

7. Notes Payable and Amounts Due Under Repurchase Agreements

On October 18, 1996, the Company borrowed $10 million from two banks under a variable rate revolving credit
agreement with amaximum borrowing level of $10 million. During 1999, the maximum borrowing level was increased
to $25,000,000, andthe Company borrowed an additional $10,600,000. During 2000, the maximum borrowing level
was increased to $50,000,000, and the Company borrowed an additional $23,400,000. During 2001, the Company
borrowed an additional $6,000,000. The notes bear interest {6.28% at December 31, 2001} at LIBOR plus a specified
margin of up to 1.75% through December 31, 2001 {2.25% thereafter) and interest is payable quarterly. The Company
exercized an option to convert the line of credit to a term loan to be paid in fifteen equal quarterly installments beginning
on December 31, 2001. Under the agreement, which was further amended in March 2002, the Company iz required to
maintain minimum statutory basiz capital and surplus levels at American Equity Life and meet certain other financial
and operating ratio requirements. The amended agreement revised the method of determining the minimum statutory
basis capital and surplus levels at American Equity L ife through December 31, 2002, although the changes thereatter
could require management to raize additional capital ortake other action to remain in compliance. Further, the amended
agreement requires the Company to repozition or dispose of approximately $200 million of certain invested asszets by
June 30, 2002, for which management is presently pursuing definitive plans to accomplish without realizing material
losses. The Company iz also prohibited from incuiring other indebtedness for borrowed money and from paying
dividends on its capital stock in excess of 10% of its consolidated net income for the prior fiscal year {except that in
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1999, the Company was permitted to make the dividend payments reflected in the consolidated financial statements).
At December 31, 2001, the annual maturities of the notes payable are as follows: 2002 - $13,333,000; 2003 -
$13,333,000; 2004 - $13,333,000; 2005 - $6,668,000.

As part of its investment strategy, the Company enters into securities lending programs to increase its retum on
investments and improve its liquidity. These transactions are accounted for as am ounts due under repurchase agreements
{(short-term collateralized borrowings). During the 1% quarter of 2001, $110,000,000 was outstanding for 45 days at
6.6%. During the 3™ quarter of 2001, $75,000,000 was outstanding for 18 days at 3.9%. Such borrowings averaged
approximately $50,365,000 and $68,139,000 for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and were
collateralized by investment securities with fair market values approximately equal to the amount due. The weighted
average interest rate on amounts due under repurchase agreements was 6.49% and 5.12% for the years ended December
31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

8. General Agency Commission and Servicing Agreement

The Company has a General Agency Commission and Servicing Agreement with American Equity Investment Service
Company (the Service Company), wholly-owned by the Company’s chairman, whereby, the Service Company acts as
anational supervisory agent with responsibility for paying commissions to agents of the Company. Under the terms of
the original agreement, the Service Company was required to pay the greater of (a) 5% of the premiums collected by the
Company on the sale of certain annuity products, or (b) 50% of the agent’s commissions payable by the Company on
the sale of those same policies. In retum, the Company agreed to pay quarterly renewal commissions to the Service
Company equal to .3875% of the premiums received by the Company on policies that still remain in force. In addition,
the Company has agreed to pay supplemental commissions should lapses in any quarter exceed 1.88%, or certain other
circumstances arise. The Agreement terminates on June 30, 2005 or earlier should certain criteria be met.

On December 31, 1997, the Service Company and the Company amended the Agreement to provide for the payment
of 100% of the agents” commissions by the Service Company for policies issued from July 1, 1997 through
December 31, 1997. In return, the Company agreed to pay the Service Company quarterly renewal commissions of . 7%a
of the premiums received by the Company before January 1, 1998 that still remain in force, and .325% for in-force
amounts received thereafter. The revised quarterly renewal commission schedule commenced December 31, 1997. For
policies issued from January 1, 1998 through August 30, 1999, the original agreement remains in effect and, accordingly,
the Company pays renewal commissions of .325% of the premiums received on such policies which remain in force.

On June 30, 1999, the Service Company and the Company further amended the Agreement to provide for the payment
of 30% of agents® commissions by the Service Company for policies issued on or after September 1, 1999, and the
Company agreed to pay the Service Company quarterly renewal commissions of .25% for in force amounts received
thereafter. The above-described amendments to the General Agency Commission and Servicing Agreement resulted
from the ability and willingness of the Service Company to assume differing levels of commitments under the General
Agency Commissions and Servicing Agreement. The Company did not request services under this agreement during
2001.

In connection with the General Agency Commission and Servicing Agreement, the Company records commissions and
arelated payable for amounts paid by the Service Company. Interest expense is recorded based upon estimated future
payments to the Service Company based upon an imputed interest rate (approximately 9.0%) for each of the periods
presented. Estimatedfuture payments are evaluated regularly and the imputed interest rate will be adjusted when deemed
necessary. During the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Service Company paid $28,400,000, and
$37,723,000, respectively, to agents of the Company. The Company paid renewal commissionstothe Service Company
of $23,198,000, $20,449,000, and $7,001,000, respectively, during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
which were used to reduce the amount due under commission and servicing agreement, and amounts attributable to
imputed interest.
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Estimated future payments under the General Agency Commission and Servicing Agreement at December 31, 2001 are
as follows (Dollars in thousands):

Year ending December 31:

2002 8 21,114

2003 20,499

2004 11,077

52,690

Amounts representing interest {6,083)
Net b 46,607

From January, 1997 to July, 1999, the Service Company borrowed approximately $45,000,000 from David J. Noble,
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company as the source of funding its portion of producing
agents’ commission payments. During 1999, the Company agreed to loan the Service Company up to $30,000,000 as
an alternate source of funds for such first year commissions, and the Company advanced $27,000,000 and $18,175,000
to the Service Company during the vears ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, pursuant to the promissory
note evidencing this agreement. Principal and interest on all loans to the Service Company are payable quarterly over
five years from the date of the advance. Interest on all such indebtedness accrues at “reference rate™ of the financial
institution which is the Company’s principal lender. This rate averaged 8.64% in 2001 and 2000, and 8.25% in 1999.
The Service Company repays the above described indebtedness from the renewal commissions paid to it under the
General Agency Comm ission and Servicing Agreement. At December31, 2001 and 2000, am ounts receivable from the
Service Company totaled $29,139,000 and $41,565,000, respectively.

9. Minority Interests in Subsidiary Trusts

During 1999, American Equity Capital Trust I (“Trust T°), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, issued
$25,970,000 of 8% Convertible Trust Preferred Securities (the “8% Trust Preferred Securities”). In connection with
Trust I’s issuance of the 8% Trust Preferred Securities and the related purchase by the Company of all of Trust Is
common securities, the Company issued $26,773,000 in principal amount of its §% Convertible Junior Subordinated
Debentures, due September 30, 2029 (the “*8%0 Debentures™) to Trust I. The sole assets of Trust I are the 8% Debentures
and any interest accrued thereon. Each 8% Trust Preferred Security is convertible into three shares of common stock
of the Company at a conversion price equal to the lesser of (i) $10 per share or (ii) 90% of the initial price per share to
the public ofthe Company’s common stock sold in connection with its initial public offering of such comm on stock (the
“TP(™), upon the earlier of the 91* day following the IPO or September 30, 2002. The interest payment dates on the 8%
Debentures correspond to the distribution dates on the 8% Trust Preferred Securities. The 8% Trust Preferred Securities,
which have aliquidation value of $10 per share plus accrued and unpaid distributions, mature simultaneously with the
8% Debentures. At December 31, 2001, 865,671.33 shares of 8% Trust Preferred Securities were outstanding, all of
which are unconditionally guaranteed by the Company to the extent of the assets of Trust 1.

Also during 1999, American Equity Capital Trust I (“Trust IT"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, issued
97,000 shares of 5% Trust Preferred Securities (the ““5% Trust Preferred Securities™) to Iowa Farm Burean Federation,
which owns more than 30% of the voting capital stock of FBL Financial Group, Inc. (“FBL"), parent company of Farm
Bureau Life Insurance Company (“Farm Burean™). Farm Bureau beneficially owng 32.29% ofthe Company’s common
stock.

The 5% Trust Preferred Securities, which have a liquidation value of $100 per share (397,000,000 in the aggregate), have
been assigned afair value of $78,577,000 (based upon an effective 7% yield-to-maturity). The consideration received
by Trust IT in connection with the issuance of the 3% Trust Preferred Securities consisted of fixed income trust preferred
securities of equal value which were issued by FBL.
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In connection with Trust I1"s issuance of the 5% Preferred Securities and the related purchase by the Company of all of
TrustII’s common securities, the Company issued $100,000,000 in principal amount of its 5% Subordinated Debentures,
due June 1, 2047 (the “5% Debentures™) to Trust II. The sole assets of Trust IT are the 5% Debentures and any interest
accrued thereon. The interest payment dates on the 5% Debentures correspondto the distribution dates on the 5% Trust
Preferred Securities. The 3% Trust Preferred Securities mature simultaneously with the 5% Debentures. All of the 5%
Trust Preferred Securities are unconditionally guaranteed by the Company to the extent of the assets of Trust II.

10. Retirement and Stock Compensation Plans

The Company has adopted a contributory defined contribution plan which is qualified under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code. The plan covers substantially all full-time employees of the Company, subject to minimum
eligibility requirements. Employees can contribute up to 15% of their annual salary (with a maximum contribution of
$10,500 in 2001, $10,500 in 2000, and $10,000 in 1999) to the plan. The Company contributes an additional amount,
subject to limitations, based on the voluntary contribution of the employee. Further, the plan provides for additional
employer contributions based on the discretion of the Board of Directors. Plan contributions charged to expense were
$49,000, $42,000 and $42,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

The Company has entered into deferred compensation arrangements with certain officers, directors, and consultants,
whereby these individuals have agreed to take common stock of the Company at a future date in lieu of current cash
payments. The common stock is to be issued in conjunction with a ‘““trigger event”, as that term is defined in the
individual agreements. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, these individuals have earned, and the Company has reserved
for future issuance, 271,950 and 267,294 shares of common stock, respectively, pursuant to these arrangements. The
Company has also accrued $1,162,000 and $1,060,000 as an other liability at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively,
representing the value associated with the shares earned. In September, 1999, aretired employeereceived adistribution
of 27,120 shares in accordance with the employee’s deferred compensation arrangement.

During 1997, the Company established the American Equity Investment NMO Deferred Compensation Plan whereby
agents can earn common stock in addition to their normal commissions. Awards are calculated using formulas
determined annually by the Company’s Board of Directors and are generally based upon new annuity deposits. For the
vears ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, agents eamed the right to receive 563,637, 262,395 and 337,788
shares, respectively. These shares will be awarded at the end of the vesting period of 4 years. A portion of the awards
may be subject to forfeiture if certain production levels are not met over the remaining vesting period. The Company
recognizes commission expense as the awards vest. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, agents
vested in 351,717, 216,402 and 159,402 shares of common stock, respectively, and the Company recorded commission
expense (which was subsequently capitalized as deferred policy acquisition costs) of $2,482,000, $1,587,000 and
$1,379,000, respectively, under these plans. Amounts accrued are reported as other liabilities until the stock has been
issued. At December 31, 2001, the Company has reserved 1,454,796 shares for future issuance under the plans. One
of the Company’s national marketing organizations accounted for more than 10% of the annuity deposits and insurance
premium collections during 2001.

Asthere isno publicly quoted market value for the Company *s stock, the Company performs an internal valuation which
involves estimates by management to determine a market value. Those estimates are based upon various factors
including past stock transactions with third parties, growth in the Company’s revenues, comparison of the Company’s
growth pattern to other companies and annual valuations completed by investment bankers familiar with the operations
of the Company. The results of the internal valuation affect the amount of commission expense recognized {(which is
capitalized as deferred policy acquisition costs) in connection with the American Equity Investment NMO Deferred
Compensation Plan as described in the preceding paragraph. The results ofthe intemal valuation of the Company s stock
also affect the calculation of earnings (loss) per common share - assuming dilution by affecting the number of dilutive
securities used in the calculation (see Note 13).
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The Company has a Stock Option and Warrant Agreement with the Company’s Chairman (and owner of 10% of its
outstanding common stock at December 31, 2001) which allows the purchase of 1,200,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock. In 2000, the Company’s Chairman exercised warrants to purchase 240,000 shares of common stock
at an exercise price of $3.33 per share. Ofthe unexercised options, all of which expire in 2007, 600,000 have an exercise
price of $3.33 per share and 360,000 have an exercise price at fair value.

During 2000, as a separate deferred compensation agreement, the Company loaned the Chairman $800,000 pursuant to
aforgivable loan agreement. The forgivable loan agreement is with full recourse, and although the proceeds of the loan
were used for the warrants exercised described in the preceding paragraph, the loan is not collateralized by the shares
issued in connection with the exercise of these warrants. Further, these warrants were not issued in connection with the
Company’s employee stock option plan, but were issued to Mr. Noble, the Company s founding shareholder, as part of
his initial capitalization of the Company. This loan is repayable in five equal annual installments of principal and
interest, each of which may be forgiven if Mr. Noble remains continuously employed by the Company in his present
capacity, subject to specified exceptions.

The Company’s 1996 Stock Option Plan authorizes the grants of options to officers, directors and employees for up to
1,200,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. All 1996 options granted have 10 yearterms, and vest and become
fully exercisable inmediately. In 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan which authorizes
grants of options to officers and employees on up to 1,800,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Also in 2000,
the Company adopted the 2000 Directors Stock Option Plan which authorizes grants of options to directors on up to
225,000 shares. All 2000 options granted have 10 year terms, and have a six month vesting period after which they
become fully exercizsable immediately. The Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No.
25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 23) and related Interpretations in accounting for its employee stock
options because, as discussed below, the alternative fair value accounting provided forunder SFAS No. 123, Accounting
Jor Stock-Based Compensation, requires use of option valuation models that were not developed for use in valuing
employee stock options. Under APB 25, because the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options equals
the fair value of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized.

Changes in the number of stock options outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 are as

follows:
Weighted-
Average
Exercise Total
Number of Price per Exercise

Shares Share Price

{Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Outstanding at January 1, 1999 1,671,000 5 3.67 5 6,130
Granted 287,760 7.48 2,152
Converted 360,000 7.33 2,640
Cancelled {(4,650) 6.67 (31)
Exercized (21,675) 3.42 (74)
Outstanding at December 31, 1999 2,292,435 4.72 10,817
Granted 456,344 9.67 4,413
Cancelled (118,575) 6.29 (746)
Exercised (52,650} 3.68 194
Outstanding at December 31, 2000 2,577,554 5.54 14,290
Granted 87,500 9.67 846
Cancelled (15,050) 7.91 (119)
Exercised {5,052) 7.69 (39)
Outstanding at December 31, 2001 2,644,952 5.67 $ 14,978
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Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2001 (all currently exercisable) are as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Remaining Life
Number (in Years)
Exercise price:

$3.33 1,069,500 5.19
$4.00 347,250 5.56
$5.33 115,500 6.64
$7.33 569,910 6.17
$8.67 19,500 7.92
$9.67 523,292 9.17
2,644,952 6.32

At December 31, 2001, the Company had no shares of common stock available for future grant under the 1996 Stock
Option Plan; 1,438,958 shares of common stock available for future grant under the 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan;
and 225,000 shares of common stock available for future grant under the 2000 Directors Stock Option Plan.

On December 1, 1997, in connection with a rights offering of shares of the Company’s common stock, the Company
issued subscription rights to purchase an aggregate of 2,157,375 shares of the Company’s common stock to certain
officers and directors. The subscription rights have an exercize price of $3.33 per share, were fully exercisable
immediately, and expire on December 1, 2002.

Pro forma information regarding net income is required by SFAS No. 123, and has been determined as if the Company
had accounted for its employee stock options and subscription rights under the fair value method of that statement. The
fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grantusing aminimum value option pricing model (which iz used
for non-public companies) with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Year ended December 31

2001 2000 1999
Risk-free interest rate 2.44% 6.70% 4.73%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Weighted-average expected life 3 years 3 years 3 years

The minimum value option pricing model is similarto the Black-Scholes option valuation model (which is primarily used
for public companies) except that it excludes an assumption for the expected volatility of market price. The Black-
Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options which have no
vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Becanse the Company’s employee stock options have characteristics
significantly different from those of traded options, and becanse changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a
reliable single measure of the fair value of its employee stock options.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options iz amortized to expense over the options’
vesting period. The Company’s pro forma net earnings and eamings per common share were as follows:
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Year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

{Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Net income, as reported $ 872 % 4,784 % 2,443
Net income, pro forma 834 3,583 2,034
Basic earnings per common share, as reported 0.05 0.29 0.15
Basic earnings per common share, pro forma 0.05 0.22 0.13
Diluted eamings per common share, as reported 0.05 0.26 0.14
Diluted eamings per common share, pro forma 0.05 0.19 0.12

11. Life Insurance Subsidiaries

Prior approval of regulatory authorities is required for the payment of dividends to the Company by its life insurance
subsidiaries which exceed an annual limitation. During 2002, the life insurance subsidiaries could pay dividends to its
parent of $17,787,000, without prior approval from regulatory authorities.

The financial statements of the Company’s life subsidiaries differ from related statutory-basis financial statements
principally as follows: (a)the bond portfolio is segregated into held-for-investment {carried at amortized cost), available-
for-sale (carried at fair value), and trading (carried at fair value) classifications rather than generally being carried at
amortized cost; (b) unrealized losses on derivatives are recorded in the statement of income rather than surplus; (c)
acquisition costs of acquiring new business are deferred and amortized over the life of the policies rather than charged
to operations as incurred; {d) the excess of purchase price overnet assets acquired in business combinations is allocated
to identifiable intangibles such as value of insurance in force acquired, rather than being entirely attributable to goodwill
{a portion of which may be non-admitted); (e) policy reserves on traditional life and accident and health insurance
products are based on reasonable assumptions of expected mortality, morbidity, interest and withdrawals which include
a provision for possible adverse deviation from such assumptions which may differ from reserves based on statutory
mortality rates and interest; (f) future policy benefit reserves on certain universal life and annuity products are based on
full account values, rather than discounting methodologies utilizing statutory interest rates; (g) a liability is recorded
equal to the fair value of forward embedded options in equity index policies; (h) a liability is recorded for the present
value of estimated am ounts due underthe General Agency Commission and Servicing Agreement ratherthan recording
such amounts as they become due; (i) reinsurance amounts are shown as gross amounts, net of an allowance for
uncollectible amounts, on the consolidated balance sheet rather than netted against the corresponding receivable or
payable; (j) net realized gains or losses attributed to changes in the level of interest rates in the market are recognized
as gains or losses in the statement of income when the sale is completed rather than deferred and amortized over the
remaining life of the fixed maturity security or mortgage loan; (k) declines in the estimated realizable value of
investments are charged to the statement of operations for declines in value, when such declines in value are judged to
be other than temporary rather than through the establishment of a formula-determined statutory investment reserve
{carried as a liability), changes in which are charged directly to surplus; (1) agents” balances and certain other assets
designated as “‘non-admitted assets™ for statutory purposes are reported as assets rather than being charged to surplus;
{m) revenues for universal life and annuity products consist of policy charges for the cost of insurance, policy
administration charges, amortization of policy initiation fees and surrender charges assessed rather than premiums
received; (n) pension income or expense is recognized for all employees in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers’
Accounting for Pensions, rather than for vested employees only; (o) surplus notes are reported as a liability rather than
as acomponent of capital and surplus; and (p) assets and liabilities are restated to fair values when a change in ownership
occurs, rather than continuing to be presented at historical cost.

Consolidated net income (loss) for the Company s life insurance subsidiaries as determined in accordance with statutory
accounting practices was $(17,178,000), $10,420,000 and $17,837,000 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and
consolidated total statutory capital and surplus of the Company’s life insurance subsidiaries was $177,868,000 and
$145,048,000 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) revised the Accounting Practicesand Procedures Manual
in aprocessreferred to as Codification. The revised manual was effective January 1,2001. Statutory capital and surplus
increased $2,406,000 during 2001due to the adoption of accounting changes resulting from the codification of statutory
accounting principles.

Life and health insurance companies are subject to certain risk-based capital (RBC) requirements as specified by the
NAIC. Under those requirements, the amount of capital and surplus maintained by a life and health insurance company
isto be determined based on the various risk factors related to it. At December31, 2001, the Company’s life subsidiaries
meet the RBC requirements.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases its home office space and certain equipment under operating leases which expire through June
2006. During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, rent expense totaled $512,000, $575,000 and
$452,000, respectively. At December 31, 2001, minimum rental paym ents due under all noncancellable operating leases

with initial terms of one year or more are (dollars in thousands):

Year ending December 31:

2002 5 620
2003 609
2004 371
2005 308
2006 269

b 2,577

Assessments are, from time to time, levied on the Company by life and health guaranty associations in most states in
which the Company is licensed to cover losses to policyholders of insolvent or rehabilitated companies. In some states,
these assessments can be partially recovered through a reduction in future premium taxes. Management believes that
assessments against the Company for failures known to date will be minimal.
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13. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of eamings per common share and eamings per common share - assuming

dilution:

Num erator:

Income before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle

Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
derivatives

Net income

Denominator:

Weighted average common shares outstanding
Participating preferred stock

Denominator for earnings per common share

Effect of dilutive securities:
Warrants
Stock options and management subscription rights
Deferred compensation agreements

Denominator for earnings per common share -
assuming dilution

Eamings per common share:
Income before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
derivatives
Earnings per common share

Eamings per common share - assuming dilution:
Income before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
derivatives
Earnings per common share - assuming dilution

Year ended December 31,

2001

2000 1999

{Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

$ 1,671 % 4,784 $ 2,443
(799) — -
14,530,978 14,365,267 14,008,287
1,875,000 1,875,000 1,875,000
16,405,978 16,240,267 15,883,287
17,330 105,344 253,758
1,361,409 1,705,364 1,028,403
737,601 537,059 352,461
18522318 _ 18583034 _ 175179000
$ 0.10 % 029 § 0.15
(0.05) — -

$ 005 § 029 § 015
$ 009 % 026 § 0.14
(0.04) — -

$ 005 § 026 § 0.14

The effect of the convertible stock of the subsidiary trusts has not been included in the computation of dilutive earnings
per common share as the effect is antidilutive. Eamings per common share for 2000 and 1999 have been restated above
on a comparable basis for the adoption of the FASB *s Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF ) Issue No. D-95, “Effect of
Participating Convertible Securities on Computation of Basic Eamings FPer Share”. EITF D-95 requires the inclusion of
the Company’s 1998 Series A Participating Preferred Stock, which converts into shares of the Company’s common stock
on a three-for-one basis upon the earlier of the initial public offering of the Company’s common stock or December 31,
2003, in the calculation of earnings per common share. Amounts previously reported for eamings per common share were

$0.33 and $0.17 for 2000 and 1999, respectively.
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14. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaundited)

Unaudited quarterly results of operations are summarized below. Eamings (loss) per common share as previously reported
on Form 10-Q have been restated as indicated below on a comparable basiz for the adoption of EITF D-95 (see Note 13}.

2001
Quarter ended March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
{Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Premiums and product charges % 5,943 b 6,518 3 6,554 b 6,646
Net investment income 25,020 33,426 42,044 39,884
Realized gains (losses) on sales of investments 156 583 69 {21)
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives {9,238) 12,363 (8,903) 19,330
Total revenues 21,885 52,893 39,765 65,833
Net income (loss) {483) 3,251 2,030 {3,926)
Earnings (loss) per common share (as previously
reported):
Income before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle b 0.02 b 0.22 $ 0.14 N/A
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
derivatives {0.05) — — N/A
Earnings (loss) per common share (as previously
reported) $ (003 _§& 02 _§ 0.14 N/A
Earnings (loss) per common share {(as restated):
Income before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle & 0.02 $ 0.19 $ 0.12 $ {0.27)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
derivatives {0.05) — — —
Earnings (loss) per common share (as restated) & {0.03) _% 0.19 0.12 0.27
Earnings (loss) per common share - assuming
dilution:
Income before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle $ 0.02 $ 0.17 $ 0.11 $ {0.27)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
derivatives {0.05) — — —
Earnings (loss) per common share - assuming
dilution $ {0.03) _$ 0.17 $ 0.11 8 (027)
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Quarter ended March 31

June 30

2000
September 30

December 31

Premiums and product charges b
Net investment income

Realized gains (losses) on sales of investments

Total revenues

Net income

Earnings per common share (as previously

reported) %
Earnings per common share (as restated) b
Earnings per common share - assuming dilution b

{Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

4,849
9,259
6,213

20,321

11

0.00
0.00
0.00

$

$
$
$

4,624

24,490
(18)

29,096
943

0.07
0.05
0.05

5

8
8
8

5,707
28,052
30
33,839
1,775

0.12
0.11
0.09

$

$
$
$

4,192
27,676

(509)
31,359
2,055

0.14
0.13
0.12

Earnings (loss) per common share for each quarter is computed independently of eamings (loss) per common share for
the year. As aresult, the sum of'the quarterly eamings (loss) per common share amounts may not equal the earnings
{loss) per common share for the year due primarily to the inclusion or exclusion of common shares based upon whether

their effect is dilutive or antidilutive in each quarter.
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